http://waikato.researchgateway.ac.nz/

Research Commons at the University of Waikato

Copyright Statement:

The digital copy of this thesis is protected by the Copyright Act 1994 (New Zealand).

The thesis may be consulted by you, provided you comply with the provisions of the Act and the following conditions of use:

- Any use you make of these documents or images must be for research or private study purposes only, and you may not make them available to any other person.
- Authors control the copyright of their thesis. You will recognise the author's right to be identified as the author of the thesis, and due acknowledgement will be made to the author where appropriate.
- You will obtain the author's permission before publishing any material from the thesis.

Personal Trainers: Motivating and Moderating Client Exercise Behaviour

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements of Master of Sport & Leisure Studies at The University of Waikato

By

Wendy Gaylene Sweet

The University of Waikato 2008

ABSTRACT

First established in the 1990's, the personal training industry in New Zealand has experienced unprecedented growth. Over 80% of New Zealand health clubs market the services of Personal Trainers and there are now over 1500 registered Personal Trainers working in a range of settings. Their primary professional role is one whereby they promote and support individuals to attain desired 'results' in relation to their physical fitness and particularly, to adopt a more physically active lifestyle. But despite the growth of this industry, little is known about how Personal Trainers actually go about supporting the clients who purchase their service to find a way into, as well as stay committed to a physically activity lifestyle. To date there has been no research in New Zealand exploring how Personal Trainers operate as *agents of behaviour change*. Furthermore, there appears only anecdotal evidence about how the intervention strategies used by Personal Trainers reflect those recommended in the 'behaviour-change' literature.

This thesis focused on the daily, working experiences of ten Personal Trainers. Inspired by the interpretive paradigm, in-depth interviews were conducted and analysis of the data, guided by the tenets of grounded theory, allowed the story about the way each participant went about her/his work to emerge. The study highlights a variety of issues that these Trainers recognise as significantly influencing their ability to succeed in an increasingly competitive and demanding business. Specific reference was also given to the behavioural intervention strategies that each participant believed were the most beneficial in nurturing client lifestyle behaviour-change.

The study outcomes reveal that although the Trainers worked independently of each other there was considerable commonality in the approaches they had developed. All agreed on the importance of presenting themselves as confident, competent professionals who modelled healthy life-styles to their clients. Some of the strategies they used were similar in some regards to those described in the intervention literature, but others were not. A salient point made by all was that, despite some of their practices lying outside the professional boundaries defined by their professional registration organisation, the provision of services to clients often went beyond the 'physical'. Nutritional counselling

especially had become an integral part of the service they provided for clients and was, in fact, an area which clients 'expected' them to be experts in. Each acknowledged the challenge of devising strategies to keep their clients committed, motivated and returning to them. The study highlighted two distinct *phases* of intervention as the Trainers used different motivational approaches to firstly, *initiate* change and then *maintain* their client's progress. As the clients began to see results all of the trainers agreed that their relationship with their long-term clients became more collegial. As time progressed, and in order to facilitate and foster client belief in the inherent value of physical activity 'for life', the Trainers became their client's Life Coach. The Personal Trainers in this study described a multitude of roles that each believed they needed to fulfil in order that they achieved on-going *success* as a Trainer. This emphasises the need for a more expansive education programme for Personal Trainers. Programmes which move beyond a traditional fitness discourse and better reflect the complexities of what it truly means to be a one-on-one 'Trainer'.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Each of the Personal Trainers interviewed for this study spoke of becoming swept along in their 'client's journey'. I resonate with this as the compilation of this work has not only been 'my journey', but as the months went on, others, just like the Personal Trainers, became 'swept up' in it as well - supporting me, motivating me and of course, keeping me 'on track'. No-one has been more caught up in this journey than Professor Bevan Grant. Through your sage advice, good humour and tireless reading of the many drafts, you have not only supported me throughout the process but over many enjoyable cups of coffee you have extended me in my thinking, my learning and of course, my ability to write more creatively! Having worked in the fitness industry for so long, in your indomitable way you have forced me to look 'outside' the industry in order to take meaning from within it – I thank you for that.

In coming up with a research topic, it made sense to choose something which was relevant to my 'world'. The Personal Training industry has been my 'world' for many years and in many forms. If it wasn't for the encouragement of Phillip Mills from Les Mills World of Fitness to get Personal Training underway in his gyms, I would never have met the many wonderful Personal Trainers throughout New Zealand over the many years of my involvement. Part of this special group of Trainers, were those who participated in this study. To each of you, I say thank you. By giving your time, enthusiasm and offering your 'stories', each of you will I hope, to some extent, contribute to the continual development of the personal training industry. The final reading, editing and proofing was a job that was unselfishly taken on by another family member, Margaret Sweet. I feel priviledged to have someone so experienced in writing and editing to assist with this daunting task. Finally, completing a Master's thesis requires time, space and endless support on the home front. Rob, Georgia and Matthew, you all have been an integral part of the completion of this thesis and for that I thank you sincerely.

Wendy Sweet Hamilton, December 2008

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter 1 - Introduction	2
Setting the Scene	1
A Glimpse at the Industry	3
Accessing an Insider's View of Personal Training	5
Structure for Thesis	7
Chapter 2 - Exercise and Health Behaviour: Intentions and Interventions	9
Introduction	9
Facilitating Change in Exercise Behaviour	11
Social Cognitive Theory	14
The Transtheoretical Model	15
Influences and Determinants of Change: The Relevance to Exercise Settings	19
Personal Trainer's as Leaders and Facilitators of Health Behaviour Change	23
Summary	26
Chapter 3 - The Research Approach	28
Defining the Research	28
The Rationale for Selecting Grounded Theory as the Research Approach	28
Potential Dilemmas with the Research Process	30
The Research Process – Methods	34
Ethical Approval	34
Participant Selection	34
Talking to Personal Trainers: Semi-structured Interviews	35
Data Management: Transcribing the Stories of the Personal Trainer's	37
Summary	38
Chapter 4 - Being a Personal Trainer	41
'Walk the Talk'	42
Locking Them In	45
Maintaining Enthusiasm for Change	50
From Personal Trainer to Life Coach	57
Summary	63

Chapter 5 - Discussion	65
Representation of Self – putting the 'personal' into personal training:	67
Lending Support	69
The Knowledge Dilemma – bringing it all together	75
Summary:	76
Chapter 6 – Conclusion	77
References	81
Appendix A: Ethics Approval	98
Appendix B: Letter to Participants	107
Appendix C: Interview Guide	109

Chapter 1 - Introduction

Setting the Scene

When working at Les Mills World of Fitness in 1992 I was invited to take responsibility for a new initiative introducing personal trainers to the fitness sector. In essence, this required me to create a system whereby a member of the gym would pay for a Personal Trainer to design and monitor an individualised exercise programme. Although enthused by the idea, I knew very little about Personal Trainers except that in the USA, those in the business were mainly working in the realm of the rich and famous. Excited by the possibilities of my new 'life', I also recall pondering about how this idea could possibly be translated into a reality for the average 'gym junkie' in New Zealand. Some of the questions that first came to mind were, would people really pay an additional fee for oneon-one tuition? Was I, and the other instructors currently employed in the gym, sufficiently competent to take on such a role? Would such a scheme really be more beneficial in helping members to achieve their goals than the more casual 'one-size fits all' instruction? And what special skills and knowledge would a Trainer need to be effective? In spite of the many unknowns and misapprehensions, this was a career opportunity I could not walk away from. Fifteen years on and although not working as a Personal Trainer, I am still fully immersed in the on-going development and education of those working in this sector of the fitness industry.

Over the years I have mentored numerous Personal Trainers as well as developed the licensed-contractor model of personal training that now prevails in a large number of New Zealand and Australian fitness and recreation facilities (Fitness NZ, 2006). Although I am often referred to as an expert in personal training, this is not a label with which I am comfortable. To me, an expert is someone with an extraordinary depth and breadth of knowledge in all areas of their specialty profession, and there are notable gaps in my knowledge with regards to what I believe a Personal Trainer needs to know. This particularly applies to knowing how best to intervene, encourage and empower people to adopt and maintain a more physically active lifestyle. I concur with Locke (1996) who contends, sedentary lives may be endangered lives, perhaps even impoverished lives but

"most people don't exercise because we hold out some distant and existential advantage – living longer or living better" (p. 427). We live in a time when greater emphasis is placed on the reduction of morbidity and non-communicable diseases through the promotion of self-managed health-related behaviours such as physical activity. And in this context I believe that Personal Trainers have an important role to play.

My own view of physical activity is that it is a personal choice, happens in many ways and has to be inherently valued if it is to be habitual. It should not be an imposition, and to be of benefit and long lasting, there must be positive interaction between a range of complex biological, psychological, social, and environmental factors. Engaging in physical activity for health-related reasons needs to generate a sense of belonging, a sense of feeling 'at home' in the activities. I believe the ultimate satisfaction is most likely not derived from conforming to a set of rules prescribed by 'experts' but finding out that exercising feels good. The research literature is replete with theories and concepts, ideas and controversies about prescribing exercise. However, there is no easy or obvious solution to making regular physical activity an attractive lifestyle choice but this is the challenge with which Personal Trainers must engage and it is something that I, as an advocate for and educator for many Personal Trainers also grapple with.

According to the New Zealand Register of Exercise Professionals (www.reps.org.nz), there are now over 2000 registered Personal Trainers operating in a range of settings private health clubs, community recreation centres, sports trusts, private studios, workplace gyms and publicly funded health agencies. Irrespective of where they operate from though, Personal Trainers are primarily 'agents of change'. That is, their prime professional role is to promote and support individuals to find a way into and stay committed to a physically active and supposed healthy lifestyle. But what does a Personal Trainer actually do? How effective do they believe they are at influencing the lifestyle choice of those who seek their support? What knowledge and skills do they draw upon when working with a client? In spite of the anecdotal commentary about these and other questions, there is currently no research on any aspect of the work of Personal Trainers in New Zealand (personal communication, Fitness NZ, 2007).

There are two prime motives for this present study. First I believe Personal Trainers have great potential to impact on the health and well-being of those who are able to access their services, and secondly, there is a dearth of knowledge about the everyday practices and beliefs of Personal Trainers in New Zealand. Although there are different points-of-view about what Personal Trainers do and do not do, in this thesis I have endeavoured to put these to the side and access an 'insider's' view of the practice. This research study is centred in the interpretive paradigm and guided by the tenets of grounded theory. More specifically, the research is designed to delve into the multiple realities of Personal Trainers who endeavour to elicit lifestyle change in their clients. Finding hidden truth and meaning is important to this enquiry (Schram, 2006) and the intent has been to explore the day-to-day realities of their practice, especially with regard to the strategies and knowledge that Personal Trainers draw on to support their clients in adhering to a more stringent exercise routine. As well, the study aims to enquire how effective they believe they are in assisting clients to modify their habits and adopt, in the long term, a more physically active lifestyle.

A Glimpse at the Industry

Not only did the emergence of the 'fitness revolution' in the late 1970's give rise to what we now refer to as the fitness industry but pioneers in the fitness revolution such as Dr Kenneth Cooper and Dr George Sheehan advocated a philosophy that shifted away from disease treatment to one of disease prevention (Dalleck & Kravitz, 2002). By the mid 1980's the industry was becoming established in New Zealand and there was no shortage of people, mostly white, middle class women in the 20 to 40 year age group willing to sign up to one of the many programmes offered by a range of organisations. In assisting members of the public to pursue fitness as a consumable commodity, each organisation developed a variety of strategies that would hopefully not only attract new members but also give them the market edge for being in vogue. For example, in the mid 1990's the Les Mills World of Fitness group introduced the slogan 'Become Some Body'. This was primarily a marketing strategy that targeted people (women) who wanted to re-shape their body, increase fitness and reduce body fat. However, such initiatives were also attracting

the attention of scholars studying the ways in which the public were being enticed to become members of a fitness centre.

When questioning whether fit people are healthy, Markula (1997) noted how, in a consumer culture, the bodily appearance and 'the look' have become increasingly important and – "women, in particular, confront social pressures to look thin, and many women use a changed appearance as a way to motivate them to do cardio-vascular exercise" (p. 29). It was apparent the emphasis on mass participation in aerobic classes, irrespective of the activity, was going to satisfy the desire of the increasing number of gym members. In line with a consumer culture, the suitability and sustainability of a fitness business is ultimately dependent on the quality of the associated goods and services and whether or not these are in tune with the needs of consumers (gym members). Although trying to determine what services members will respond to, in order to retain their involvement, may be a fickle science, it is evident that targeting the individual is seen as an important 'retention tool' by many fitness centres. But in a consumer culture there is a need to keep modifying an existing service or product, as well as creating something new.

Current data from Fitness NZ (2006) indicates that around 500,000 New Zealanders belong to over four hundred fitness centre type organisations and personal training is more recently used as a 'retention tool' by many fitness centres. Consequently, paying for the 'expertise' and guidance of Personal Trainers for a prescribed but personalised programme of exercise (and other lifestyle factors such as diet) has become a growth area within the industry. However, when this exercise model emerged it was unreasonable to expect many of the instructors working 'on the floor' in the fitness sector to provide a more personalised approach to gym members. Additional education specifically about working in a one-on-one setting was required and in the late 1990's the Academy of Personal Training was established to provide specialised training for Personal Trainers. These days, personal training has become a sought after and lucrative profession and one that is established and recognised as having an important role to play in promoting good health through active living.

Although it takes time for a new professional practice to become established, Rose (2007) has questioned the 'value for money' and effectiveness of Personal Trainers within the fitness industry and asks what proportion of their clients actually adhere to long term lifestyle changes. Of course this question not only applies to Personal Trainers but everyone involved in promoting a physically active lifestyle. This is endorsed by the exercise adherence research that consistently claims over half of new exercisers revert to their previous less physically active lifestyle within the first six months (Weinberg & Gould, 2003; Buckworth & Dishman, 2002). With very little adherence research emerging that specifically looks at Personal Trainers as a mode of intervention (IRHSA, 2007), it is well known within the industry that they primarily operate as 'vehicles of support and motivation' for clients and this reflects other forms of intervention (Biddle & Mutrie, 2008; Buckworth & Dishman, 2002; Eyler, Brownson et al 1999; Marcus & Forsyth, 2003; Raglin & Wallace, 2005; Wing & Jakocic, 2000; Wing & Jeffrey, 1999). Personal Trainers can be viewed as agents of change and this study was undertaken in order to understand more about the way they 'apply their trade'.

Accessing an Insider's View of Personal Training

With physical inactivity frequently referred to as a risk factor (WHO, 2001) and concern arising about the growth in sedentary lifestyles for many people (SPARC, 2003; USCDC, 2001), understanding intention to exercise and subsequent adherence is increasingly in the limelight. Although a number of determinants associated with exercise uptake and adherence have been identified (Buckworth & Dishman, 2004; Eyler, Brownson et al, 1999; Kahn, Ramsey et al, 2002), the story with regards to what entices or deters people to adhere to exercise habits long term is far from complete. Given that much of what we "know" about a physically active lifestyle has been arrived at in debate in the literature of the health sciences, it may be time to move beyond relying primarily on scientific notions that support normalizing tendencies and explore the diversity, difference and indeterminacy inherent in behaviour associated with physical activity. This is worth considering given we continue to rely on the scientific discourse to remind us that less than forty percent of the population are physically active enough to meet guidelines for optimal health (SPARC, 2003). Whether or not those who are 'active enough' include the

many clients of Personal Trainers is difficult to know but the way those in the profession believe they contribute to 'more people being more active more often' is worthy of investigation.

Having spent considerable time exploring many different approaches to research I appreciate there is no single theory that can "truly capture an individual's motivations and behavioral patterns" (Grodesky, Kosma & Solmon, 2006, p. 327). At this stage of my career as a researcher I find myself aligning within the interpretive paradigm, and most specifically grounded theory. A paradigm according to Sparkes (1992) is a 'world view'. It is a person's general framework encompassing an umbrella of philosophical beliefs and assumptions that guide one's actions and thoughts. Recognizing that the interpretive paradigm gives a particular insight into the nature of knowledge in the area being studied, I resonate with the close contact the researcher has with research participants (Denzin & Lincoln, 2003). Recognizing there are multiple realities, Smith (1983) argues, interpretivists consider truth to be a subjective concept created by each individual. This means what exists in the social world is what people think exists. This perspective was endorsed by Wolcott (1990) when stating, "I do not go about trying to discover a readymade world; rather I seek to understand a social world we are continuously in the process of constructing" (p. 147).

Interpretive researchers acknowledge it is impossible to remain neutral and totally objective in doing research. Two of the many reasons for this are, firstly that the researcher typically has an invested interest in the area of investigation, and secondly that there is considerable interaction between the research and those individuals involved in the study. In my situation the need has been to remain impartial and objective because I have spent many years working with Personal Trainers. Hence, it is important at the outset of this thesis to acknowledge that as the researcher, I have been an active participant and a research 'instrument' as data were collected and analysed, and I have taken responsibility for preparing the final text.

Through analysis of the participants' stories, it has been my role as the researcher to construct an account that gives voice to and captures the essence of that phenomenon

being studied. Although interested in accuracy and authenticity, it also "seems unlikely that we will ever be able to produce truly embodied accounts of people's experiences" (Denison, 2003, p.18). After all, narrative inquiry takes as a given that people may exclude details of events or exaggerate aspects of stories. Nevertheless, a narrative like other forms of data provides a sound basis by which to construct a version of a reality about everyday experiences (Riley & Hawe, 2005). That being shared is most informative when the text itself invites the reader into a vicarious experience of the lives being described in a way that heightens an awareness of and sensitivity to the kinds of events, characters, and social circumstances that circumscribe those lives. Like all telling, however, "moving into unknown space can be frightening, but it can also be exhilarating" (Sparkes, 2002, p. 234). Drawing on the interpretive paradigm, and in particular grounded theory, this study sets out to investigate the everyday experiences of the Personal Trainers and the meaning they take from their experiences.

Structure for Thesis

Chapter Two follows on with a literature review. This literature review offers a comprehensive and extensive overview of current research on general behaviour change processes. As well, initiatives used to facilitate uptake and maintenance of population-based physical activity behaviours are discussed. With the identification of a number of models of exercise behaviour mainly suited to the initial intention and adoption of exercise, the challenge for trainers lies in translating what we currently know about intention to exercise into positive, long-term action.

The research design is an integral part of any research and in *Chapter Three*, I describe the methodology I used to select participants for the study, and discuss and critique my use of the interpretive paradigm in which this qualitative study is situated. Specifically, I discuss how the Grounded Theory approach has been utilised and serves as the theoretical basis for the study. Additionally, the ethical concerns and limitations of the study are presented.

Chapter Four presents the perspectives of the Personal Trainers. Using the grounded theory approach, data have been analysed and coded and drawn into themes. This chapter presents the views and experiences of the Trainers, and also incorporates my own thoughts and perceptions into the interpreted material, as necessary.

Chapter Five presents the study findings aligning these, where relevant, to current exercise behaviour literature. Also included are recommendations for future theory.

Concluding the study is a summary of the highlights and outcomes. These are discussed in *Chapter Six*.

Chapter 2 - Exercise and Health Behaviour: Intentions and Interventions

Introduction

As the modern world becomes one of fast-food indulgence and increasing dependence on labour-saving technologies (Frew & McGillivray, 2005) health promoters are attempting to better understand the complexities of lifestyle behaviour change. A proliferation of information on health promotion, behaviour change and exercise adherence has emerged and has been paralleled by substantial growth in the health and fitness sector (Fitness New Zealand, 2008; IHRSA, 1999). The latter has tended to focus on the delivery of 'healthy' doses of cardiovascular and resistance-based training. In New Zealand it is estimated that over 500,000 New Zealanders belong to over 400 health and fitness clubs and community recreation centres (Fitness New Zealand, 2006). A similar trend is reported in the United Kingdom where the number of health and fitness clubs has expanded by almost a quarter over the last decade, but this expansion pales in significance when compared with the United States, where it has been suggested that the majority of adults are, or have been, members of some type of health and fitness club (Frew & McGillivray, 2005) and where the targets for new members in health clubs has been set at fifty million by 2010 (IHRSA, 1999).

Given this background it is not surprising there has been an increase in numbers of people signing up in search of getting in *better shape*. The body, suggests Smith-Mcguire (2008), is central to leisure in contemporary consumer culture, and the places in which the body is tended, maintained and improved are places of status. Drawing on the work of Bourdieu and his discussion of 'capital', Frew & McGillivray, (2005) state that the fitness club is the principal space where the quest for, and attainment of 'physical capital' (the 'toned, ordered and visible body') takes place, but the health club might also represent a barrier to some consumers. This barrier, the authors suggest is because, in the 21st Century many people use the health and fitness club to support a 'dis-satisfaction' with their physical self. A similar view is expressed by Smith-McGuire (2008) who believes that by locating exercise in a semi-public venue for which membership is required, health clubs construct fitness as another aspect of lifestyle and leisure

consumption. Paradoxically, health clubs may aim to reconcile the facility's conflict between being seen as 'places of leisure' as well as 'places of hard work'. This association of the health club with hard physical work may lead to the desires of fitness consumers becoming an abstract hope, remaining unfulfilled, and often viewed only as 'future' desires (Frew & McGillivray, 2005). Contributing to this negative view of health clubs is also the knowledge that attrition (drop-out) rates of members has been up as high as 60% across the industry (Club Industry, 2007; Fitness NZ, 2006; Fitness Australia, 2007). It is no surprise therefore that the *raison d'etre* of the health club industry is challenged by health promoters, especially as evidence of significant health improvements emanating from the growth of the industry remain scant (Frew & McGillivray, 2005).

However, as time moves on, fitness facilities have become more aware of managing member attrition and interest is growing in the role of health clubs as appropriate venues in which to develop and evaluate exercise adherence interventions (Annesi, 2003; IRHSA, 1999). As most individuals who begin exercise programmes in fitness settings lack the self-management, self-regulatory skills and social support systems necessary to maintain them through the exercise behaviour-change continuum (Annesi, 2003), the services of Personal Trainers have increasingly been offered to new and existing exercise participants. Personal Trainers according to Smith-McGuire (2008) are defined by the personal, one-on-one nature of their instruction. They have become a popular trend in New Zealand and there are now over 2000 Registered Personal Trainers (REPS, 2008). For those fitness clubs serious about increasing long-term member commitment, the Personal Trainer has been 'added to the product-mix'.

However, in spite of what has become a popular development and career choice for over a decade, little is known about the background, beliefs and practices of Personal Trainers especially in relation to how and why they assist their clients not only to adopt but also to maintain different exercise behaviours. And just like other forms of interventions to modify a range of health related behaviours, the challenge for Personal Trainers' lies in translating what is currently known about *intention* to exercise into positive, long-term *action and adherence* for their clients. With these issues as the focus of this study, this

chapter will consider some of the controversies, theories and health promotion strategies in exercise behaviour literature, as well as offer a perspective on the role of the Personal Trainer in the exercise-setting.

Facilitating Change in Exercise Behaviour

In attempting to better understand physical activity as a health-enhancing behaviour, a number of perspectives have been presented in the literature. These range from theories and models of intention, to strategies and debates on intervention. Many have been transferred from changing other health-related behaviours such as smoking and alcohol cessation and are now recommended as ideal models for physical activity adoption and intervention. It is regularly reported that facilitating physical activity behaviour change is difficult. Consequently, the way interventions such as those recommended by the U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (USCDC) and the American College of Sports Medicine (ACSM, 2007) impact on daily lifestyle physical activity remains a mystery. To this end, a number of researchers (Biddle & Mutrie, 2008; Buckworth & Dishman, 2002) argue there is no one formula which has the greatest impact on individuals and whole populations. However, in a systematic review of interventions to promote physical activity undertaken by Kahn et al (2002), there is strong evidence that personalised health behaviour-change programme tailored to an individual's specific stage of behaviour or interest are effective in increasing physical activity.

Turning exercise into a habit is enormously challenging. It is well recognised that change is more likely to occur if people discover the inherent benefits of physical activity and exercise for themselves and modify their behaviour accordingly (Brehm, 2004; Biddle & Mutrie, 2008). This is complicated however, by a plethora of constraints, barriers and other priorities which in reality exist for many. 'Drop-out' research invariably shows that people have little time, energy or motivation to become more physically active in a way that may increase quality of life as well as longevity (Dishman, Washburn & Heath 2004). Hence, facilitating change in physical activity behaviour is deemed to be more effective if the mediating variables, (such as value placed on body-shape; beliefs about desired appearance or health status) are strongly related to the desired behaviours, and if

strategies for manipulating the mediating variables in the desired directions are available (Smith, Orleans & Jenkins, 2004).

Although complicated, behaviour-change intervention research has produced considerable evidence that some risky health behaviours (including physical inactivity) can be modified for the better, (Dubbert, 2002; Niaura & Abrams, 2004; Orleans, 2000; Wadden, Brownell & Foster, 2002; van Aalst & Daly, 2006). It is because of this considerable evidence globally, that in New Zealand like many other western countries, promoting physical activity for health is attracting the attention of the current government's agenda;

Eating well and being physically active are two of the most important things people can do for good health and wellbeing. Since the New Zealand Health Strategy identified three key population health objectives in December 2000, the government has been committed to fostering an environment where individuals, families and communities are supported to eat well, live physically active lives and maintain a healthy body weight. (Hodgson, 2007)

Theoretical propositions and evidence from other behaviour change studies help to underpin interventions for health promotion and modifying behaviour. Intervention strategies gleaned from research in changing other health behaviours such as smoking cessation and alcohol rehabilitation programmes, have now been over-laid into physical activity initiatives. Although mixed results have emerged from the research promoting physical activity, it is evident a range of cognitive, social and environmental factors have a strong influence on the adoption and/or maintenance of physical activity (Bauman, Bellew, Vita, Brown & Owen, 2002; McKenna & Riddoch, 2003; Pringle, 2008; Sallis & Owen, 1999).

Emerging from the growing behavioural research are a number of models that aim to assist health promoters to understand why some people choose to participate in health-promoting activities whilst others do not. Many of the more accepted models associated

with changing health behaviours, such as the Health Belief Model (Becker, 1974; Janz & Becker, 1984), the Social Cognitive Model (Bandura, 1986) and the Transtheoretical Model (Prochaska & Diclemente, 1982) have been borrowed from social-cognitive, behavioural and health psychology and then adapted for an exercise application. The models acknowledge the combined roles of intra-personal, social and physical environmental influences on exercise behaviour (Buckworth & Dishman, 2002; King, 2001; McLean & Teague, 2004; Mutrie & Woods, 2003; Redding et al, 2000; Sallis & Owen, 1999; Trost, Kerr, Ward & Pate, 2001). Other theories of behaviour change have also emerged more recently, such as socio-ecological theories (Stokols, 2003) and leisure constraints theories (Mannell & Atkinson, 2005). These offer different paradigms as they conceptualize and extend the ideas of previous notions in relation to people's motivations, intentions and resources for behaviour change. Social-ecological models emphasize the effects of social systems, public policies and physical environments on human behaviour (King et al, 1998; McElroy, 2002; Sallis & Owen, 1992; Stokols, 1992). Furthermore, the limitations encountered through people's social and physical environments are considered to underpin physical activity decision-making and need to be addressed more fully in health-behaviour research (Kerr et al 2003; King et al, 1997; McElroy, 2002).

In health promotion research, models and theories utilised are classified as either continuum theories, which operate as continuous and unidirectional models, or stage theories, which assume discontinuity between different stages of change (Biddle & Mutrie, 2008). The Health Belief Model (Becker, 1974), Social Cognitive Theory (Bandura, 1986) and the Theory of Reasoned Action (Ajzen & Fishbein, 1980) are recognised continuum theories in which specified relationships are thought to exist in the prediction of physical activity behaviour, (Biddle & Mutrie, 2008; Carron et al, 2003). Meanwhile, the Transtheoretical Model is the best known stage-theory (Prochaska & Di Clemente, 1982; Prochaska et al,1992) and was developed around the assertion that behaviour change is related to the stage the individual has reached in the decision-making process. Although all the named theories attempt to explain why some people take on a

particular behaviour whilst other members of the same population do not, they differ in their origin, constructs and beliefs.

Over time the psychological theories have typically been reported to predict around thirty percent variability in exercise behaviour (Biddle & Mutrie, 2001). As Baranowski et al (2003) claim, they also vary in their ability to answer the following questions which invariably under-pin behaviour change:

- Why would a person want to change her/his behaviour? What is the person's reason(s) for and/or motivation to change?
- What are the personal or other resources that a person needs to change behaviour?
- What are the processes by which behaviour change is likely to occur, and what decisions are made in performing a behaviour?
- What procedures encourage change in these mediators and in behaviour?

Two theories emerging as more popular frameworks offering explanations for exercise uptake and adherence that may have more relevance to the personal training context are Social Cognitive Theory (SCT) and the Transtheoretical Model (TTM). A discussion of both follows.

Social Cognitive Theory

Social Cognitive Theory (SCT) is a comprehensive theory of human behaviour that has proven useful in studies of health behaviour (Petosa et al, 2003). Proposed by Bandura (1986, 1997), it combines aspects of operant conditioning, social learning theory and cognitive psychology. It is one of the most frequently used theories in guiding frameworks for intervening in physical activity (Carron et al, 2003). The components of behaviour, environment and internal factors relating to the person link and co-exist as compatible rather than competing variables (Carron et al, 2003; Mannell & Atkinson, 2005). The assumption of SCT is that 'person' factors such as thoughts, emotions and physiology guide their actions. In turn the person has the ability to influence both their environment and future behaviour in accordance with their cognitions (Buckworth & Dishman, 2002; Weinberg & Gould, 2003).

One of the most critical cognitive variables researched and cited in SCT is 'self-efficacy'. This refers to the individual's belief that he or she can successfully perform a behaviour. Based on their self-efficacy for performing the intended behaviour, proponents of SCT suggest that the perception of people that they can confidently and successfully perform a behaviour (self-efficacy), increases the likelihood that they will actually engage in that behaviour. The influence of 'self-efficacy' has been extensively used with smoking cessation, weight management and cardiac rehabilitation interventions. In relation to physical activity and exercise, self-efficacy has produced consistent findings, thus SCT has gained considerable support (Carron et al, 2003; Sallis & Owen, 1999).

Strategies based on SCT to change behaviour focus primarily on manipulating self-efficacy (Biddle & Mutrie, 2008; Dishman & Buckworth, 2002). The use of cognitive strategies for altering self-efficacy such as matching the task with the person's level of competency, have received considerable attention, and McAuley et al (2003) recommend targeting various 'incentive-laden' aspects of physical activity, such as its health benefits to build motivation. They also note there needs to be increased attention paid to 'constraints-efficacy' and the perceptions of barriers. Constraints-efficacy is the capability of the person to successfully overcome constraints to physical activity uptake and maintenance. This could include scheduling-efficacy (the ability of the person to overcome time-constraints), health-behaviour efficacy and perceived behavioural control (Rodgers, Hall, Blanchard, McAuley, & Munroe, 2002; Craike, 2004). Self-efficacy has thus developed into an important variable with dominant influences on determining physical activity, exercise and nutritional behaviour and could have considerable relevance to the personal training domain.

The Transtheoretical Model

The Transtheoretical Model (TTM) is frequently promoted as a model for behaviour change within many settings including the health and fitness industries. Originally designed as a model for understanding and supporting interventions in smoking cessation programmes (Prochaska & Diclemente, 1982; Prochaska et al,1992), the TTM suggests

that people progress through various stages of change and decision-making whilst they think about, adopt, adapt to and learn new habits and behaviours. First described in 1982 the TTM has since been applied to exercise behaviour (Buckworth & Dishman, 2002). The TTM has now become the most widely used stage model in population-based physical activity intervention although more recently its efficacy has been challenged.

The popularity of the TTM lies in the recognition that decision-making for participating in more healthful behaviours is not linear, as other models suggest, but is cyclical (Biddle & Mutrie, 2008). The TTM recognizes that many people do not succeed in their efforts at establishing and maintaining lifestyle changes because of competing influences that may or may not be outside of their control at the time. The TTM therefore proposes that the relationship between physical activity motivation, readiness and action is not linear. It suggests that individuals pass through five main stages of decisional stages of readiness when making a lifestyle physical activity change.

The five 'stages of change' are labeled pre-contemplation, contemplation, preparation, action and maintenance. Although these five stages label people's readiness for action or not, the TTM also identifies the more in-depth decision-making constructs which underlie and preclude motivation, intention and action. These constructs, of which there are ten, include both behavioural and cognitive processes as well as self-efficacy processes of change which are thought to be important in one's transition either forwards or backwards at each stage. The five cognitive processes are consciousness raising, self-reevaluation, dramatic relief, environmental re-evaluation and social liberation (Prochaska et al, 1992). The five behavioural processes are counter-conditioning, stimulus control, reinforcement management, helping relationships, and self-liberation (Prochaska, Redding & Evers, 1997).

Part of the rationale for the popularity of TTM theory is that these processes of change are hypothesized as particularly important targets for intervention programmes. TTM researchers imply that where there is intent, there is motivation to change behaviour (Prochaska, Redding & Evers, 1997) and by understanding social constructs more fully,

people can be assisted to translate intent into action. More specifically, TTM supporters propose that if a specific type of health behaviour-change information is presented to a person and is targeted specifically against where they are in the decision-making process, then uptake of the behaviour is enhanced (Cardinal, 1997; Carron et al, 2003; Cox et al, 2003; Dishman, 1994; Buckworth & Dishman, 2002; McKenna & Riddoch, 2003; Marcus & Forsyth, 2003).

The TTM has been used both to describe and help individuals alter a wide variety of behaviours including cigarette smoking, problem drinking, irregular physical activity, low fruit and vegetable consumption, and poor stress management (Cox et al, 2003; Prochaska et al, 1992; Riemsma et al, 2002). As well, several studies have supported the applicability of the stages of change model within the exercise domain (Armstrong, Sallis, Hovell, & Hofstetter, 1993; Biddle & Mutrie, 2008; Booth et al, 1997; Cardinal, 1997; Cox et al, 2003; Marcus, Rossi, Selby, Niaura, & Abrams, 1992; Marcus & Forsyth, 2003). By using the stages identified in the TTM, researchers have been provided with the opportunity to match interventions to the different needs and cognitions of individuals in each of the stages, (Ashworth, 1997; Biddle & Mutrie, 2008; Dishman, 1994; Buckworth & Dishman, 2002; Sallis & Owen, 1999; Whitehead, 1997).

As a consequence of the TTM, health promoters have been encouraged to recruit and target specific groups at each stage of change. Interventions with physical activity include the physician-based PACE programme and Green Prescription programme; media-based interventions such as SPARC's 'Push-Play' and 'Get Active' campaigns; settings-based interventions such as stair-well prompts, daily physical activity in schools and workplace initiatives (Bauman, Bellew, Vita, Brown & Owen, 2002; Jones, Harris, Waller & Coggins, 2005); National Health Committee, 2000; SPARC, 2003). The Australian-based SWEAT Study (Sedentary Women Exercise Adherence Trial) conducted over 18 months in 2003, found that when previously sedentary women commenced an exercise trial based on the TTM, they moved through the stages and changed in three constructs: processes of change, self-efficacy and decisional balance (Cox et al, 2003).

Although many current physical activity interventions support the TTM paradigm, more recent research challenges the efficacy of the TTM. There is a suggestion that individualized stage-based exercise promotion interventions have not been well tested or critiqued (Culos-Reed 2003) and there is an increasing need to standardise the reliability and validity of measurement (Biddle & Mutrie, 2008; Dubbert, 2002). As well, they have not been proven to be successful in improving exercise levels over the long term and fail to include the moderating variables of gender, age and ethnicity (Adams & White, 2005; Cardinal, 1997; Carron et al, 2003; Leith & Taylor, 1992). Two recent reviews have concluded that individualized stage-based activity promotion interventions are of limited effectiveness in promoting long-term adherence to increased activity levels (Adams & White, 2005; Riemsma et al, 2002).

In a critical review of activity interventions based on the TTM, Adams & White (2005) reported that long-term effects of the TTM on exercise adherence are disappointing. Velicer et al, (1998) led the charge in criticizing the popularity of the TTM. They questioned the efficacy of stage-based interventions and commented that as the TTM only focuses on the influence of personal motivation on behaviour change, it fails to address other influences on behaviour such as socio-environmental factors. Supporting their review is evidence suggesting that other external and social factors such as age, gender and socio-economic position have significant influence on motivation to participate in physical activity and stage of activity change (Armstrong et al, 1993; Bull, Eyler, King & Brownson 2001; Booth et al, 1993; Chinn et al, 1999; Dishman, 1994; Leith & Taylor, 1992; Kearney et al, 1999; Potvin et al, 1997).

In their review of the TTM and its efficacy as a model of behaviour change, Adams & White (2005) identify key reasons why stage-based activity promotion interventions may be less effective than originally proposed:

- Exercise behaviour is more complex than a single behaviour such as cigarette smoking and the TTM was developed for single health behaviours.
- Exercise behaviour is influenced by numerous external factors not considered by the TTM.

- The TTM suggests that stage progression is a significant outcome, but this is not always associated with behaviour change.
- Stage-based interventions are highly complex and may require more than one level of development and evaluation.

Although in agreement that further exploration of the measurement of constructs needs to occur, Cox et al (2003) report from their SWEAT study that the idea of individuals changing their behaviour through a series of interdependent stages remains a useful strategy for considering behaviour change. They conclude by noting that the use of stage-based interventions was efficacious regardless of prescribed exercise intensity or location and of the constructs suggested to facilitate moving through the stages. Undoubtedly the TTM offers a dynamic approach to the understanding of physical activity and people's 'readiness' to change. Within the TTM, self-efficacy is the most consistently supported factor and as this has been shown to increase with each stage of change (Biddle & Mutrie, 2008) it should be given considerable attention when trying to influence behaviour change (Cox et al., 2003).

Influences and Determinants of Change: The Relevance to Exercise Settings

Since the World Health Organisation (1997) classified a lack of physical activity as a health risk, researchers have become increasingly interested in the question of what influences participation and non-participation. Physical activity and prescriptive exercise occurs in many forms that are usually planned to influence the behaviour and well-being of individuals, groups and/or populations (Grant, 2008). But changing physical activity behaviour can be difficult as it involves dealing with a combination of factors such as the inertia of habit, self-belief and social pressure (Csikszentmihalyi, 1997). Consequently, many health promotion agencies are increasingly interested in the factors or determinants influencing why some people partake in habitual activity and why others don't. As well, in a consumer culture, where body maintenance and appearance are endorsed as a desirable outcome (Grant, 2002), finding out what influences exercise choices becomes

anything but straight forward as the meanings and outcomes associated with participating in exercise can be confusing.

Determinants associated with exercise uptake and adherence are numerous and typically include demographic, biological, psychological, behavioural, programme and environmental characteristics (Biddle & Mutrie, 2008; Carron et al, 2003; Buckworth & Dishman, 2002; Marcus & Forsyth, 2003; Sallis, Kraft, & Linton, 2002; Sallis & Owen, 2003; Weinberg & Gould, 2003). Within each of these is a combination of real and perceived factors that influence people's motivations, attitudes and decisions to be involved in exercise or not throughout their life course. In a review of exercise determinants research, Sherwood & Jeffery (2000) suggested that physical activity determinants cover two broad categories: individual characteristics including motivations, self efficacy, exercise history, skills and other personal health behaviours; and environmental characteristics such as access, cost, time constraints and level of social and cultural support.

Knowledge of these key determinants of participation and non-participation may well assist Personal Trainers and other exercise consultants to select specific intervention strategies that will have the best impact on their clients. More importantly though, Personal Trainers working with new exercisers may benefit from the knowledge that a multitude of constraints and barriers have been reported as limiting or preventing people from becoming active on a regular basis. Perceived constraints, barriers and attitudes (affect) are important predictors of non-participation in exercise (Biddle & Mutrie, 2008; Sallis, 2000).

Drawing on exercise-behaviour research, Buckworth & Dishman (2002) and Lox, Martin & Petruzzello (2003), summarise the main perceived and genuine constraints and barriers for people not adopting physical activity as being:

- Lack of time
- Lack of social support or spousal support
- Lack of energy and willpower

- Programmes which are too intense
- Lack of enjoyment
- Low self-efficacy (lack of confidence in their ability to perform the exercise and to succeed)
- Physical limitations
- Lack of access to facilities or amenities such as parks, fitness facilities and safe cycle/ walking paths.

As well, the strength of each variable noted varies and depends on a number of other characteristics. For example, in a study investigating the factors of health status, social connectedness and satisfaction with local area exercise facilities (in Adelaide, Australia), MacDougall, Cooke, Owen and Bauman (1997) found that low uptake of physical activity was associated with age, education, general health and reduced mobility. Similarly, in a study of the barriers to physical activity for New Zealand Polynesian women, Kingi et al. (2005) concluded that partaking in positive health behaviours is just as much a cause of inadequate social structures and support as an individual's motivation. The main barriers in this case were lack of finance and social support from family for exercise which had the further effect of reducing individual self-efficacy (self-belief and confidence) to exercise.

In separate reviews of the determinants literature, King (2001) and Sherwood & Jeffery (2000) have also identified a number of other factors influencing physical activity uptake. Lower educational attainment and income, being overweight, being female, being a smoker and lacking past experience in physical activity or exercise (especially for older women) were found to be the main influences on people's decisions not to undertake more activity. King's review also identified key attitudinal, psychological and behavioural factors that influenced individuals to exercise. These included the desire to improve fitness and appearance in younger people, positive beliefs concerning the value of physical activity for improving health, having fewer perceived barriers to being physically active, and having the confidence to perform the situation-specific skills or tasks relating to the activity or exercise (self-efficacy).

Meanwhile constraints research in New Zealand by McLean & Teague, 2004, reported in *Obstacles to Action* offers considerable insight for exercise consultants. This research initiative from SPARC (2004) identifies barriers and constraints to participation by New Zealanders in physical activity and exercise. By researching those who 'succeed' in maintaining healthy exercise behaviours and comparing these to non-participators or physical activity 'drop-outs', the researchers are able to better target intervention. McLean & Teague (2004) concluded that those seemingly most active in society have managed to adopt specific 'how to' strategies, including effective goal-setting, adequate support networks and the development of a variety of physical and social activities to maintain motivation rather than rely on just one set programme or exercise structure.

In recognising the complexity of adopting an active lifestyle, the use of problem-solving and negotiation processes in supporting people to overcome barriers or constraints to exercise is endorsed by a number of authors (Biddle & Mutrie, 2008; Mannell & Atkinson; 2005; Sherwood & Jeffery, 2003). Greater emphasis is then placed on the mediating process variable of 'intention to participate', which may better determine the impact of constraints to participation and non-participation.

Although identifying and unraveling the determinants of exercise uptake and adherence is an important one, the limitations of determinants research also deserves recognition. (Buckworth, 2000; Buckworth & Dishman, 2002; King, 2001; Sherwood & Jeffery, 2000). Critique primarily centres around two areas. Firstly the focus of determinants research has mainly been on the 'maintenance' of exercise rather than the 'adoption' phase of exercise (Dishman, 1994). Secondly, because determinants are not isolated variables, they influence and are influenced by each other as they contribute to behavioural outcomes, so measuring true determinants may be a challenging task (King, Oman, Brassington, Bliwise & Haskell, 2003). However, further debate is needed to explore the relevance of theories and models taken from other negative health behaviours (e.g. smoking and alcohol over use) in understanding and predicting physical activity and exercise intentions. More specifically, Buckworth & Dishman (2002) question whether or

not one theory is any better than another. They also ponder what theoretical construct, such as attitude, perceived barriers, self-efficacy, or intention might be the 'best' predictor of behaviour. Another perspective suggests that by only focusing on initiation rather than maintenance of behaviour there is now a literature characterized by cross-sectional, short-term prospective designs that rely primarily on self-reported measures of behaviour (Armitage, 2005). And where there is reliance on self-reported behaviour, the quality of the collection and interpretation of the psychometric variables of behaviour is questionable (Cooper, 2003).

In the light of the considerable amount of determinants research available, and the well-established notion that exercise can be viewed as a behaviour that may be shaped through purposeful manipulation of its consequences, it appears appropriate that exercise leaders operating in fitness settings would (and should) be utilising evidenced behaviour-change strategies for supporting new member exercise adherence. However this doesn't appear to be the case. In research looking at exercise attendance and drop-out in fitness centres in the United States, United Kingdom and Italy, Annesi (2003) reports that few exercise facilities systematically use any evidence-based adherence promotion methods to sustain exercisers' efforts.

Personal Trainer's as Leaders and Facilitators of Health Behaviour Change

The profession of coaching has a long and distinguished history and according to Gavin (1996), a new twist on this old profession has found representation in a role now popularly known as 'Personal Trainer'. Individuals are often enticed to enter fitness settings via marketing strategies targeting short-term weight loss results (e.g. six and twelve-week weight loss challenges), and with time at a premium for many busy people, it isn't unreasonable that the services of Personal Trainers are on the increase. Many people now hire Personal Trainers for individualised coaching, specialist nutrition and exercise advice as well as emotional and motivational support, just as they would hire a lawyer, physiotherapist or counselor. Among the potential benefits of using a Personal Trainer are, according to McClaran (2003) (i) the implementation of an effective

personalised strategy for changing attitudes towards increasing a person's level of physical activity, and (ii) the adoption of problem-solving strategies to minimise the many constraints and barriers to physical activity.

Despite Personal Trainers having worked in New Zealand fitness settings since the early 1990's, how Personal Trainers perceive and play out their role as *motivators* and *supporters* of an active lifestyle is still unknown. Although this is an under-researched area, a decade ago, Gavin (1996), found that Personal Trainers construed their role as one that lay predominantly in changing the physical aspects of clients. More recently, it has been suggested that those who work with new exercisers (e.g. Personal Trainers) may play an important role in also fostering strong beliefs in exercise capabilities (Sherwood & Jeffery, 2003). This suggestion arises from the knowledge that on-going support from various sources is well recognized as answering the emotional needs of people attempting to modify a lifestyle behaviour (Carron et al, 2003; Courneya & McAuley, 1995; McClaren, 2003; Moe, Elliot, Goldberg et al, 2002; Weinberg & Gould, 2003).

Personal Trainers operate in exercise settings in a leadership role. But, in contrast with the proliferation of research in sport leadership such as team-coaching (Weinberg & Gould, 2003), surprisingly little has been written about the role and leadership style of the exercise consultant or exercise leader in specific fitness settings. The growth in the numbers of Personal Trainers is support for the motivational role of an exercise leader according to Biddle & Mutrie (2008) but there is virtually no evidence of their effectiveness in supporting and motivating clients into long-term exercise maintenance. Recognising that Personal Trainers are increasingly in demand in health clubs and community settings in many parts of the world, Biddle & Mutrie (2008) suggest that the application of leadership theory from sport to exercise is a starting point and is long overdue.

Evidence about exercise leadership and motivational climate, and the relationship of these to exercise adherence is vague. However, a lot more is now known about interviewing and counselling clients to promote behaviour change. Motivational interviewing, pioneered in 1991 by Miller and Rollnick (Biddle & Mutrie, 2008), has

become increasingly recognised as an effective counselling process to enhance client motivation. Incorporating problem-solving strategies is a known goal of motivational interviewing and this client-centered approach is recognised as helping clients to explore and resolve any ambivalence to change. Already utilised in public-health promotion and Green Prescription counselling (Pringle, 2008; Sparc, 2003), motivational interviewing is now increasingly encouraged in fitness settings, as interest grows in the level of effectiveness of exercise leaders in being able to counsel individuals and operate as effective agents of behaviour-change (Annesi, 2003; Biddle & Mutrie, 2008; Bray, Millen, Eidsness & Leuzinger 2005; IRHSA, 1999; McClaran, 2003; Fitness NZ, 2006). In order to execute effective motivational counseling, it is suggested that exercise consultants should have excellent communication and reflective listening skills as well as empathy for the people seeking help. Steps in a typical motivational interviewing process as outlined in Biddle & Mutrie (p.301) include:

- 1. Determining the client's physical activity history
- 2. Discussing the pro's and con's of increasing activity
- 3. Determining what kind of support they might need and who can provide it
- 4. Setting realistic, time-phased goals for increasing physical activity
- 5. Discussing relapse prevention strategies
- 6. Providing information on relevant local facilities such as walking paths, swimming pools etc.

Research indicates that individuals wanting to embark on a more active lifestyle have greater success when they can control the antecedent and consequent conditions that prompt and reinforce behaviour. (Dishman, 2000, 2001; Lox, Martin & Petruzzello, 2003; SPARC, 2004). Goal-setting, identifying and overcoming constraints and barriers, giving positive feedback, offering social support, building client self-efficacy and drawing up a decision-balance worksheet have thus become well documented intervention strategies for influencing exercise behaviours, (Bauman et al, 2002; Biddle & Mutrie, 2008; Dishman, 2000; Marcus, 1995; Healthy Societies, 1998; Weinberg & Gould, 2003). However, whether or not Personal Trainers use any of these strategies and how they influence client adoption and adherence to exercise remains largely unknown.

With trends of increasing sedentary behaviour permeating western society, it makes reasonable sense that the views, perceptions and effectiveness of Personal Trainers involved in client behaviour-change be considered.

Summary

The need to better understand those factors associated with physical (in)activity stems from knowing that many people who begin a programme of regular exercise, experience lapses in their commitment to the programme (Dishman, Washburn & Heath, 2004) and most fail to sustain their efforts for longer than six months (Biddle & Mutrie, 2008; Buckworth & Dishman, 2002; Dishman, 2000, 2001). It is not surprising that there is an increasing call for those working in the front-line of physical activity promotion (e.g. health practitioners, community leaders, physical educators, exercise professionals) to be acquainted with behaviour modification theories, determinants and strategies for adopting and maintaining lifestyle activity (Annesi, 2003; Biddle & Mutrie, 2008; Carron, Hausenblas & Estabrooks, 2003; Fox & Harris 2003; Hershberger, Edwards & Rudisill, 2005; Marcus & Forsyth, 2003; King et al, 2001).

As time and access are the most commonly reported barriers to physical activity (Buckworth & Dishman, 2002; Dubbert, 2002; Sherwood & Jeffery, 2003; Weinberg & Gould, 2003), taking a lifestyle approach to physical activity is reported as a promising strategy for attracting sedentary individuals to exercise programmes. Having knowledge of strategies used by long-term adherers to physical activity as well as understanding the variables that influence non-participation and intention, policy-makers, and exercise leaders may more effectively identify the different interventions required to promote regular and sustainable exercise. This knowledge may be especially beneficial in the first three months when new exercisers are most at risk of dropping-out. As well, taking cues from leisure-constraints theory, Personal Trainers may be well placed to influence both short and longer-term exercise participation by implementing strategies which allow for the successful negotiation of exercise participation constraints (Little, 2002; Mannell & Atkinson, 2005).

Despite a wealth of information on health promotion, behaviour change and exercise adherence, there is an absence of information about how Personal Trainers impact on client exercise behaviour. The degree to which they draw on the exercise adherence and behaviour change literature in their practice needs consideration. This is ultimately a case of exploring what they do in their daily role and whether motivational approaches and behaviour-changing strategies are in their 'tool-box' when endeavouring to assist clients to change their exercise (and possibly, nutrition) behaviour.

This research considers the experiences of Personal Trainers and explores how they believe that they influence and impact client attitudes, motivations and daily habits towards a more physically active lifestyle.

Chapter 3 - The Research Approach

Defining the Research

With its roots in sociology and anthropology, qualitative research is informed by a desire to understand the fundamental nature of the social world as it is, (Sparkes, 1992). Located within the qualitative research genre is the interpretive perspective, one which recognizes and engages the 'how' and 'what' of the people studied (Denzin & Lincoln, 2003; McDonald, Kirk, Metzler, Nilges, Schempp & Wright, 2002). It therefore focuses on the participants' perspectives. By situating this study in the interpretive paradigm, the attitudes, motivations, values and beliefs of the Personal Trainers were explored through semi-structured interviews. As they told their story their subjective experiences emerged (Patton, 2002; Sparkes, 1992) providing the foundation for better understanding of the meanings and actions each derived from working as a Personal Trainer. Then, using the tenets of Grounded Theory as the research methodology and thus, constant-comparison of the data, themes emerged linking ways that offered insightful explanations about how their client exercise behaviours are influenced and changed. These themes formed the basis of the subsequent interpretation, findings and discussions.

The Rationale for Selecting Grounded Theory as the Research Approach

Although grounded theory is widely used as a methodological process in social science research (Byrne, 2001; Glaser & Strauss, 1967; Locke, 2001; Strauss & Corbin, 1998), it has received scant attention in the exploration of the field of sport and exercise. While Personal Training belongs to the wider field of sport and exercise, it is a relatively unknown entity on the behavioural research front. Thus the selection of grounded theory as the research approach for this study satisfied a number of justifications.

With grounded theory enabling both the 'how' and 'what' of social reality (Denzin & Lincoln, 2003) through processes of inductive analysis, (Bowen, 2006) it affords researchers the ability to understand the individual's perspective on the material under investigation. It is a methodology that has been used to generate theory in areas where

there is little already known (Goulding, 2002) as it allows data to be generated for the researcher from which any hidden assumptions, presumptions and meanings may then be uncovered (Denzin & Lincoln, 2003).

Grounded theory is rooted in the 1960's sociological work of Barney Glaser and Anhelm Strauss (Schram, 2006). Key analytical strategies unique to grounded theory methodology came from this original work as their ambition was to develop theory which emerged from data systematically obtained and analysed. They believed that theory and therefore, greater understanding of concepts was concealed in the data waiting to be 'discovered'. As Glaser stated – "It is about time that researchers study the problem that exists for the participants in the area, not what is supposed to exist, or what professionals say is important." (Glaser, 1998, p.116).

A key characteristic of grounded theory is the use of an emergent design (Bruce, 2007). This is defined by Cresswell (2005, p. 405) as a process whereby "the researcher collects data, analyses it immediately rather than waiting until all data are collected, and then bases the decision about what data to collect next on this analysis". Using inductive techniques such as coding, categorising and sorting, Glaser and Strauss developed the constant-comparative method which allows the interplay between both original and additional data. This constant-comparative technique inherent in grounded theory allows a systematic and inductive process of breaking down, sorting, categorizing and coding the data. The ultimate goal is the identification, refinement and integration of categories of information by which time the data eventually becomes 'saturated' and no further additional insights emerge (Weed, 2005). This specific approach to theory development is the difference between grounded theory and other qualitative methods.

The decision to undertake a grounded theory approach in this study derives from the desire to progressively identify and integrate 'categories of meaning' emerging from the data generated by the Personal Trainers involved in this study. My overall aim has been to develop, verify or generate any new or existing relationships, theories and understandings in the interpretation process (Bowen, 2006; Willig, 2001), especially

where it pertains to the phenomenon of Personal Trainers as possible 'agents of client-behaviour change'. In working towards this end, I also required a process which allowed for the continuous interplay between data collection and analysis, as well as the mutual construction of data between myself as the researcher and the participants (Charmaz, 2000). This led to the alignment of the research methodology to Charmaz's (2000) constructivist grounded theory approach.

Charmaz's constructivist approach recognizes the mutual creation of knowledge by the viewer and the viewed (Denzin & Lincoln, 2003). Charmaz (2000) argues that the techniques of coding and categorizing that are central to grounded theory methodology can be adapted to produce meanings and theory which are sensitive to the researcher being part of rather than separate from, the research phenomenon. Thus, categories emerging from the narratives of the Personal Trainers have not been pre-determined.

The primary research intent was to hear what the Trainers themselves had to say about 'how and why' they choose to do what they do. However, an important rationale for using grounded theory was to also utilise the research process to develop my own story in interpreting their experiences, ambitions and beliefs. Overall, grounded theory allows the inductive analysis of a substantive topic to discover a basic social process which has the potential to resolve some of the concerns of a particular group (Buckley & Waring, 2005). It can, therefore, assist with theory generation that is of direct interest and relevance for other practitioners in the related profession (Denzin & Lincoln, 2003). Within this context, it is hoped that other fitness industry personnel will be guided by the discussions that emerge from the study.

Potential Dilemmas with the Research Process

Being a novice qualitative researcher, numerous challenges arose on the interpretive horizon and hence, I valued the process of seeking and gaining ethics approval. This vital process allowed me as someone new to research to objectively go through and plan each phase of the research process and think through the potential conflicts posed by each phase of the study prior to undertaking the interviews and embarking on the 'real thing'!

Choosing semi-structured interviews for data-collection as well as grounded theory as the principle methodological approach, was due to a number of reasons, not least the need to reduce potential dilemmas arising from the research process, thus increasing the study's trustworthiness. The need to distance my personal experiences, values, expectations and assumptions from those of the Personal Trainer during the interview process and data interpretation was a dilemma recognised from the outset of the study, especially with my move from a role 'inside' the industry to a role as a novice-researcher 'outside' the industry. This change of role was always a recognised potential source of conflict. It has therefore been essential to remain neutral and ignore any pre-conceived ideas I held regarding the role of Personal Trainers, especially when it came to interpreting the narrative and writing up their stories. In doing this I concur with Sparkes (1992) that I, as the primary research 'tool', must allow meaning and truth relative to the participant's own subjective descriptions of their behaviour to emerge.

Despite the overall aim of the study being to offer readers as truthful an account as possible of the experiences of Personal Trainers, it has been suggested by Strauss & Corbin (1997) that, "whatever 'truth' exists lies at the intersection of multiple perspectives on a given phenomenon. 'Truth' then, is relative to perspective" (p. 133). So, although the selection of grounded theory as the primary methodological process allows the stories and narrative taken of participants to be retroductively informed by the behaviour-change literature, I am conscious of Sparkes' (1992) observations that, "what we are left with in interpretive research is a situation in which multiple interpretations are possible regarding the same group under study, each of which can be coherent in themselves. That is, there can be many 'truths' available" (p. 33).

It has been argued by Denzin and Lincoln (2003) that no single interpretive 'truth' can be found due to the multiple interpretive communities, each having their own criteria for evaluating and interpretation. This means that seeking a legitimate form of truth in this study has been an important goal, as the Grounded Theorist's analysis and subsequent interpretation informs a story about people, social processes and situations. Although interested in accuracy and authenticity, it seems "unlikely we will ever be able to produce

truly embodied accounts of people's experiences" (Denison, 2003 p.18). I have thus become conscious that one of the real dilemmas to confront me in the interpretive nature of this study, is - whose 'truth' and 'perspectives' am I seeking? Mine, the Trainer's or both? So in recounting the stories of the Personal Trainers, not only did I strive to understand my own experiences, but also, any potential sources of conflict in understanding my subject's portrayals of theirs (Denzin & Lincoln, 2003). How some of these potential sources of conflict were acknowledged during the research process are outlined below.

Allowing the Personal Trainers the time and space to tell their stories and communicate their experiences was fundamental to this study. This meant establishing a positive rapport with the participants in a relaxed interview environment. With my desire to learn more about how Personal Trainers perceive, experience and manage their work it was essential to allow other stories or phenomenon to emerge and be discussed. This meant not just focusing on the main behaviour-change perspectives under study. Labelled 'theoretical sensitivity' by Glaser (1978), this notion focuses the researcher on the area under investigation rather than on any pre-conceived notions about what they might discover when they enter a research site. Although my experience and knowledge of the personal training industry influenced my ability to understand, empathise with and interpret the personal trainer's 'world', it was also a source of potential conflict and bias in the research gathering and analysis process. The more interviews I gathered, the greater was the need to remove pre-conceived notions of what I might hear or be asked about.

As the researcher is the primary 'instrument' in interpretive research (Sparkes, 1992), a critical challenge for me as the interviewer was in 'changing hats'. Although my role as both the interviewer and researcher was to guide the participant into particular areas for discussion, the essential strategy was also to ensure that the 'environment' allowed them the freedom to tell their story. Each study participant was therefore met and interviewed in a location of their choice. Many chose to either be interviewed at their home or a relatively quiet area near their workplace such as a meeting room at a hotel, as they

recognised that their fitness workplaces were on the whole busy, noisy and potentially distracting.

Producing text which, as honestly as possible, allows the reader to be drawn into the life and experiences of the Personal Trainer through the narrative, can be, and perhaps always will be, a potential area of conflict and bias in interpretive research. Ensuring that the integrity and trustworthiness of the study was not compromised during the interpretation process (Bruce, 2007; Charmaz, 2003) meant following the processes defined in grounded theory methodology. Then, constructing a true and accurate picture that drew from, reassembled and rendered subjects lives (Charmaz, 2003; Cresswell, 2006; Denzin & Lincoln, 2003) whilst allowing me as the viewer, some of my own personal reflection (Denzin & Lincoln, 2003) followed. Although interpretation of the data is always going to be subjective, I concur with Sparkes (1992) when he says – "agreement or disagreement by the subjects of this interpretation need not necessarily reduce or enhance its credibility" (p. 30).

In seeking links between what the Personal Trainers state as 'reality' and those impressions of behaviour change that are current in existing literature, potential transparency as well as research dependability and trustworthiness must also be offered (Bruce, 2007; Freeman et al., 2007). As grounded theory requires a number of processing strategies to occur over a period of time, it was essential that the study participants knew that they would be required to give feedback on the accuracy of the transcription relating to their 'story'. Not only did this assist in the 'legitimation' (Denzin, 1997) and trustworthiness (Freeman et al., 2007) of the research, but it ensured that the participants were comfortable with the transcription and personal accounts of their realities and experiences which served as data for the ensuing analysis, coding and eventual interpretation.

The Research Process - Methods

Ethical Approval

Approval was granted for this study from the School of Education Ethics Committee at the University of Waikato (refer Appendix A). As stated earlier, the Ethics Approval process assisted in allowing me to prepare and quantify each phase of the research, so by the time that I was ready to meet with study participants and conduct the first round of interviews, I felt well prepared.

The ethics application procedure was based upon two primary principles of ethical conduct in research. These are:

- Principle 1: Respect for personal autonomy
- Principle 2: Avoiding harm to the participants.

To collect the participant's narrative, I used a dictaphone. Following the verbatim transcription of the audio-tapes, all tapes and subsequent transcripts were then kept in a secure, locked filing cabinet at my private residence. All participants signed consent forms and these were stored in the locked cabinet where they will remain for a minimum of six years, after which they can be destroyed, which is a requirement of the University of Waikato ethics policy. Participation in this research was entirely voluntary and each participant who signed up for involvement in the study was informed that their names would remain confidential and pseudonyms would be given to each in order to protect their identity and privacy.

Participant Selection

Study participants were self-employed Personal Trainers currently working within the New Zealand fitness industry, either within health clubs/ fitness centres, or running their own studio or mobile business, (refer Table 1 at end of chapter). Most were located in the Waikato and Auckland regions whilst one participant ran her business in Northland and one in Wellington. The participants all have had five or more years of working in the industry and are registered Personal Trainers with REPS (Registration of Exercise Professionals). Thus they meet the requirements for certification as a Level 1 Personal

Trainer. This level of certification requires Personal Trainers to have a number of clients, and business strategies in place as well as a minimum of one hundred hours working in the fitness industry as a Personal Trainer (REPS, 2007). Ten study participants were identified from the publicly accessed REPS register and/or health club web-site and invited to participate in the study, initially by a telephone call and then formally by a letter (refer Appendix B). This letter explained the research intent as well as giving an outline of the research process. The selection strategy was set to reflect the research objective — to obtain rich description about beliefs and personal experiences from Personal Trainers. With this research intent, those Personal Trainers who had less than five years experience and who were not readily accessible to the researcher were excluded from the study.

Although there is no set number of participants required for a qualitative enquiry, the purpose of grounded theory is to generate enough in-depth data so that patterns, concepts, categories, properties and dimensions of the phenomena being studied are illuminated (Auerbach & Silverstein, 2003; Glaser & Strauss, 1967). As the object is to eventually achieve 'theoretical saturation' which occurs when the relationships among categories are well established and validated (Charmaz, 2003; Strauss & Corbin, 1998), a purposive sample of ten Personal Trainers (four males and six females), were involved.

Targeted Personal Trainers were contacted via phone and email to ascertain their interest in participating in this study. Introducing the research intent as well as explaining the grounded theory approach served as the initial 'ice-breaker' during the initial contact. Those willing to participate were then sent a more formal letter outlining briefly the nature of the research, the methodology, the requirements of the participants including a request for informed consent which met the ethical standards required for research performed in association with the University of Waikato.

Talking to Personal Trainers: Semi-structured Interviews

Semi-structured interviews were chosen as the 'modus-operandi' in which to collect rich, descriptive data (narrative) of the participant's experiences, realities and perspectives (refer Appendix C). To enhance the eventual understanding of the role of the Personal

Trainer in their interactions and interfacing with clients, audio-taped semi-structured interviews emerged as the main data-generating process. As the interview was the communication process in which the respondent was relating and attaching meaning about his or her life (O'Brien Cousins, 2001), a semi-structured approach was chosen which allowed the Personal Trainers to shape the narrative. Each initial interview lasted between 60-90 minutes with a follow-up interview lasting 30-60 minutes. There was also email follow-up after the two interviews for some participants. My strategy as the interviewer was to ensure that the participant's were not only guided into areas of discussion about their daily roles, but were given the space which allowed them to evolve the interview direction and dynamics (within the boundaries of the study). Hence, whilst maintaining the integrity of the interview as a means of accurate data-generating, in reality, my intent and purpose was to 'move' the interview towards that of a friendly conversation.

Interview questions which functioned as 'triggers' were designed based on guidelines for semi-structured interviewing as outlined by Willig, (2001). As none of the study participants had been involved in audio-taped research interviews prior to the study, it was essential that the nature of the questions served to encourage each participant to start talking about their daily experiences. Types of questions included - What attracted you to the Personal Training profession?, as well as, How would you describe the role of a Personal Trainer. These were successful in assisting them to relax and ease into the interview process.

Accessing an 'insider's view' (Sparkes, 1992), of the practice of personal training has been the study intent, so prompting questions were designed in order to move them into talking about how they make sense of their 'world'. Why do you think people seek out the assistance of a Personal Trainer? Has this changed over your time as a Personal Trainer, and if so, how?

Introducing the phenomenon of client-behaviour was achieved through asking the following questions of the participants - *How does a Personal Trainer work with her/his*

clients in the first instance?; How do you know you've been effective in helping someone change their behaviour?; Are there specific strategies you utilise to assist new clients to take on board the habits you would like them to acquire?

As client behaviour-change was the main phenomenon under study, more in-depth questions specific to this area were designed to follow on from the introductory ones outlined above. Questions such as - What are the challenges when trying to help individuals modify their behaviour? How do you keep 'up to date' with the research about exercise behaviour? were introduced to encourage the participant's to explore their feelings, beliefs and attitudes in more depth.

Although maintaining continuity of the interview was an essential strategy, it was decided to make the first group of interviews go for around one hour, in order that the participants were not disrupted too much with their client sessions. Moving the participant's back to more general areas of thought was the intent of the next group of questions. It was thought that this would encourage them to both explore their views on the personal training industry as a whole, as well as serve to move them towards tailing-off the interview. Why do you think the number of Personal Trainers is growing? What advice would you give to new Personal Trainers in the area of managing client-behaviour change? What developments would you like to see happen with Personal Trainers on the whole?

Interview closure only occurred when the participant felt that they had exhausted most of their thoughts and recollections with regard to their beliefs and experiences of being a Personal Trainer.

Data Management: Transcribing the Stories of the Personal Trainer's

Grounded theory methodology specifies an analytic approach to interpreting the data rather than data-collection methods (Denzin & Lincoln, 2003) so obtaining narrative and transcribing it *verbatim* has been an essential and vital component of this study. As the over-riding aim of the study was exploratory in nature, accurate transcription of the raw

material, albeit time-consuming, has been a critical process to work through. Detailed verbatim transcription is required for grounded theory analysis (Willig, 2001), hence my role as the transcriber has been to put an interpretation of the spoken word into printed form in as true a state as possible. Legitimating the transcript (Byrne, 2001) occurred when each participant had been sent the transcribed narrative and either approved or edited it. Only one participant added some comments to one of the questions. All others approved their transcript. Once the transcripts were approved, each was photocopied and filed with the tapes for safety purposes (i.e. in case of loss of the original transcripts).

In line with the inductive rationale of grounded theory methodology (Bowen, 2006), the data were then interpreted, analysed and coded. Coding the data into categories allowed a number of statements, events and actions to be highlighted and linked therefore creating some logic in managing the data and distinguishing any relationships between categories. When no more categories emerged the data became saturated. Once saturated, the categories that emerged then formed the basis for the interpretation and presentation of five general themes, each of which is presented in the following chapter on the study findings.

Summary

My role as a researcher in this study allowed me to develop a two-way connection and 'bridge' between the language of social science and the 'ordinary' language of the Personal Trainers. Knowledge is constructed in many forms and my belief is that the Personal Trainers themselves are a legitimate source of knowledge in health-promoting behaviour change. Little is really known about the role, responsibilities, perceptions and meanings of the Personal Trainer 'on the job'. To date the sociological literature has not explicitly addressed the experiences of Personal Trainers within the New Zealand fitness industry. However, this study shows that they can provide us with a richness of information relating to their field.

By grounding the study in the individual perspective of each personal trainer, and using grounded theory as the principle methodological approach, the nature of the research

process became the strength of the study. The Grounded Theorist's analysis tells a story about people, social processes and situations (Denzin & Lincoln, 2003). That being shared then becomes most informative when the text itself invites the reader into a vicarious experience of the lives being described in a way that heightens an awareness and sensitivity to the kinds of events, characters, and social circumstances that circumscribe those lives. Like all telling however, "moving into unknown space can be frightening, but it can also be exhilarating" (Sparkes, 2002, p. 234). Crotty (1998) also states, "Social scientists have the task of entering and grasping the frames of meaning involved in the production of social life by lay actors" (p. 56). In entering their world and examining the ways that the subjects perceive, create and interpret their experiences, it is my intent that the study findings will add value to Personal Trainer education in the New Zealand fitness industry. Conveying the richness of understanding (Willig & Stainton, 2008) on paper from the various 'voices' of the study participants (as well as my own) is undoubtedly challenging, but it is also the highlight and focal point of the study. The findings follow in chapter five.

Table 1: Outline of Study Participants:

NAME	QUALIFICATIONS	CAREER LENGTH/ BUSINESS	AVGE No OF	AVGE
(Pseudonym)		LOCATION	CLIENTS / WK	INCOME/ ANNUM
Keri	PE Degree/ MA/ Reg. Teacher	5 years; Mobile PT in rural community	20 - 25	\$60-80K
Shana	PT Certificate (AUT)	11 years; City health club	25 - 30	\$50-60K
Barry	Reg. Naturopath	15 years; Private Studio - city	15 - 25	N/A
Roberta	PE Degree	13 years; Specialist rehabilitation clinic with other health providers	25 - 30	\$60K+
Jimmy	Sports Degree/ PT Certificate	15 years; City health club	25 - 30	N/A
Calvin	Sports Degree	14 years; City health club	20 - 30	N/A
Greg	PT Certificate	15 years; City health club & local colleges	25 - 30	\$70K+
Sammie	Sports Degree/ Reg. Teacher	11 years; Health club but mainly home clients; Sports testing laboratory	20 - 25	\$50K+
Misha	PE Diploma	13 years; Community classes (local halls); Corporate workplaces	20 + corporate presentations & community classes	\$50K+
Barb	PT Certificate	13 years; Suburban health club & home based clients	15 - 20	\$40K+

Chapter 4 - Being a Personal Trainer

An important part of any qualitative research project is to ensure that which is reported is "believable, accurate and right" (Cresswell, 1998, p. 193). Therefore, as the researcher, it is my responsibility to capture the 'reality' of being a Personal Trainer. This means systematically attending to the experiences and meanings from the standpoint of the participants. Hence, this chapter provides a synthesis of the experiences of being a Personal Trainer. To ensure the participants' (identified by a pseudonym) voices are heard, verbatim quotes are incorporated to help elucidate their 'real' experiences and explain some of the why and how of the way they went about their work.

The findings are presented in five themes that were identified from analysis of the interview transcripts. These are summarized in Table 2. The first theme 'Walk the Talk' provides a brief background to what influenced the participants to become a Personal Trainer. Themes Two to Four capture and conceptualize the essence of this study. Theme Two considers some of the challenges of Locking Them In, exploring ways of getting new clients to take their intentions seriously. Once the clients had embarked on an exercise programme it became imperative for the Trainers to keep motivating their clients so they would Maintain Enthusiasm (Theme Three) for making physical activity a regular part of their schedule. In Theme Four, From Personal Trainer to Life Coach the participants explain how their role took on varying dimensions once their clients stayed with them long-term. In the final theme, Thoughts for Tomorrow's Trainers, the participants share their views on the issues that those entering the profession might want to take into consideration.

Table 2: Themes and Constituent Content

Themes	Constituent Content	
'Walk the Talk'	Formative years, shaping lifestyle beliefs and values; using	
	the body as representation of 'self'; role-modeling lifestyle	
	behaviours to attract clients	
Locking Them In	Chasing client results in the short-term; seeking credibility	
	and authenticity as Trainers; strategies for economic	
	survival; 'prescribing' for early change; emphasising	
	nutritional change and accountability	
Maintaining Enthusiasm for	Facilitating and communicating new habits and behaviours	

Change	in clients; encouraging client enthusiasm for change;		
	developing motivational approaches for instilling long-term		
	positive lifestyle behaviours		
From Personal Trainer to Life	Problem-solving in the 'game of life'; counseling clients;		
Coach	becoming partners in the 'journey' towards new lifestyle		
	behaviours		
Tomorrow's Trainers	Challenges for future trainers; matching skill-set to societal		
	issues and trends; maintaining credibility; enhancing public		
	perceptions of personal training		

'Walk the Talk'

A defining characteristic that eventually led to all participants in this study becoming a Personal Trainer was an active background in sport and exercise. In fact, several participants indicated how their identity was closely linked to playing sport, albeit not at the elite level. Participating in sport had "always played an important role in my life" (Misha) and most just "loved being fit and training hard." (Jimmy) There was a initial belief that through Personal Training they could help others enjoy similar experiences. However, not all relied solely on their sporting backgrounds to justify their choice of career. In the case of Misha, she worked as gym instructor, taking on a range of roles, before deciding to become a Personal Trainer. Intrigued with the way physical activity elevated the spiritual and mental aspects of his life, Barry trained first in Naturopathy then went on to gain experience in the gym industry as a 'floor' instructor and group-fitness instructor. Having "worked through this whole journey (attaining his own levels of fitness and health) and becoming his own student" Barry felt this enabled him to pursue personal training as his chosen career.

In contrast to the other participants, Sharna decided to become a Personal Trainer for quite different reasons. Although she enjoyed being physically active and playing sport, this was not always a relaxing experience. Whilst the other participants in the study described how they were comfortable in the various activity environments and more often than not reaped positive benefits from their involvement, this was not always the case for Sharna. For her, the decision to be a Personal Trainer derived from two key experiences. Firstly, although enjoying being physically active, she was confused, embarrassed and

uncomfortable with her physical and emotional self. Secondly, she had once employed the services of a Personal Trainer who fell well short of meeting her expectations.

I would go into the gym and play around with the weights and feeling like a complete idiot I'd try to look like I knew what I was doing. After I had my son, I enlisted the services of a Personal Trainer. He was really good but he didn't listen to what my goals were. I felt he didn't understand me. I can help them *(clients)* based on my own personal experiences.

The many dimensions of fitness and health were of significant interest to the participants and valued for how they could contribute to people's wellbeing. They were convinced that being physically active on a regular basis was making an investment in the body, their health and well-being. Being physically active also provided a way for people to express themselves. In a sense, the participants described how their physical activity experiences in the past had contributed to an almost evangelical belief in the benefits of physical fitness. Although their previous experiences differed, these provided the foundation for and helped shape the ideologies and set of values that the Personal Trainers adopted in their work. The comment by Greg who wanted others to experience the success he himself had enjoyed, echoed the thoughts of others:

When I was younger I really enjoyed health. I was a bit overweight, so I wanted to lose weight and as I lost weight, I thought 'wow', this is great – you lose weight, you feel better and then I wanted to portray that to other people.

All participants were adamant that they wanted to help others to discover the pleasure that physical activity could provide. Given that the process of bodily transformation requires hard work, it seems paradoxical that use of the term 'role modeling' was synonymous with working in the fitness industry. These Personal Trainers knew that in order to be accepted by the public you had to be credible as a professional as well as be able to 'walk the talk'. They were conscious that potential clients would be looking for someone who not only looked healthy and 'in good shape' but also displayed a persona that exuded a warmth, empathy and genuineness about wanting to help, to make a difference. Jimmy expressed the views of most when stating. "It's the whole aspect of

being their role-model. Walking your talk, being positive". He was adamant that if Personal Trainers want to attract new clients, they needed to "look like a professional. You need to look the part, walk the talk, exert positive motivation."

Clients are sought from and 'chose you' for a variety of reasons. Working as a Personal Trainer in a small rural community meant Keri had to be willing to sometimes travel long distances to work with her clients. She described herself as a "mobile-trainer" and was responding to the needs of clients who chose her above other local Trainers. "People see me as a good role model for health and well-being. They see me as a positive person and I have helped people to change for the better". The other participants were also conscious about the importance of role modeling. For Roberta, this meant that a number of health professionals refer a steady stream of potential clients her way. As she explained, "What I hear from my clients is that they [health practitioners] like someone who 'walks the talk'. They want [their referrals] to be motivated by someone [Personal Trainer] who actually is out there a bit and healthy themselves."

Before becoming a Personal Trainer, few participants worked in a gym as an instructor. However, given the beliefs and values they formed about health and fitness over the years from their 'love' for being physically active, deciding on a career in the fitness industry seemed like a good choice. In Calvin's case, this was also enhanced by having been on an athletic sporting scholarship in the USA where he was also able to study sport science. On returning to New Zealand, he explained how this experience had given him the confidence to become a Personal Trainer, "I like all sports, any sports. I use my background through all sports with my clients." On the other hand, Keri who also professed a love of sports had been a respected physical education teacher in a small rural secondary school. She was well known to the parents for being able to motivate their children and teens to participate in athletics, one of her favourite sports. However, Keri was at a point in her life where she felt she was out of control. She was struggling to maintain her own fitness and wellbeing. Juggling teaching, overseeing an athletics academy as well as being a dedicated mother was just too demanding.

After my third child I went back to work full time. I actually got frustrated as a teacher of physical education. Here I was, someone who should be modeling health and well-being, but couldn't fit my own exercise in. I knew from my up-bringing and prior to going back to work after my third child, that exercise was really important, so I thought, right, I have to change my career. I was also interested in Personal Training. (Keri)

The Personal Trainers in this study had learned over time that their energetic actions, healthy physique, positive attitude and beliefs about the benefits of being physical became their 'badge of authority'. They described themselves as being in good 'shape' and embodied the ethos of being fit, something they knew was important in attracting a new clientele and building a successful business as a Personal Trainer. Being seen as 'fit and healthy' helped validate them as worthy of marketing and selling fitness. It portrayed a professional image that helped to ensure those who sought their service held them in high regard. Attracting the interest of a client however, was just the start. The next phase was to work with the potential client so s/he would want to continue purchasing their service. This meant developing and applying strategies to 'lock the clients in'.

Locking Them In

The commercial nature of personal training meant that all of the Trainers had evolved strategies which they believed were most effective at getting new clients to voluntarily "lock themselves in" (Barry). Over-riding these strategies was the need to "deliver client results in the first instance" (Greg). In progressing their clients towards their desired results, the analysis showed that all Trainers placed emphasis on:

- 1) seeking to fully understand the intentions, motives and current lifestyle of their client in the initial consultation
- 2) initiating their progressive 'systems' of exercise and nutrition intervention, all of which they had designed themselves.
- 3) closely supervising their clients' adherence to new regimes and managing client motivation to persist with changes.

The Trainers were unanimous about their role with new clients – they did what they needed to do to "get results" (Roberta). Whether their clients wanted weight loss, muscle gain, rehabilitation, health changes or just motivation to exercise, the Trainers felt that they stood a better chance of retaining them into the long-term if they delivered results in the first few weeks. They were in the business of personal training and it was their ability to retain the client into the longer term that they focused on. In ensuring that their clients experienced some form of initial success and value for money, each Trainer had therefore developed their own strategies to sell fitness. Managing, mentoring and motivating client behaviour thus became the focus of these Trainers, especially as they acknowledged that today, many people had "very little time to squeeze in exercise during the day" (Greg). In coaching and coaxing their clients to new habits, the Trainers discovered that they could break habits of a lifetime in the first few weeks, but to succeed into the longer-term, they also had to find ways to re-shape their clients' beliefs, getting them to slowly, but surely, "learn to value exercise" (Keri).

The starting point for initiating client behaviour change was, for all participants, the first consultation. Each had designed their own ways of "finding out who they are (new clients) and what they want" (Jimmy). The consultation process for Barb was the first step in establishing trust and rapport ("the trust factor has to come into it"), traits she knew set the scene for locking her clients in - "what I say and how I say it makes a difference" (Barb). There was unanimous agreement that, when working with someone new to exercise, it was equally important to know about their current lifestyle as well as any past and present medical or physical conditions by way of a brief fitness assessment. As Barry explained, the first consultation was like "going fishing" because:

You just start off with a conversation. And the conversation really is aligned around getting to know who they are, how they live their life, the way they think and just the way they behave. And you start looking at those patterns, because that's the starting point.

Learning as much as he could at the first consultation allowed Barry to then decide on the first "shift" he could potentially make with new clients. He says,

When you first start off, you've got to make a 'shift' quickly – whether it's on a physical, mental or emotional level, because one of those keys will affect the other two anyway, but you have to decide okay, where am I going to get my biggest shift first? So you go for that. Once they have the shift, they've got their foot in the *(personal training)* game so to speak – they've got some momentum and they're enthusiastic about it. (Barry).

Following the consultation and "listening to where they (clients) want to be" (Barry), all of the Trainers agreed with Barry, that their role was to "put together a plan that makes sense to their clients." It was this plan that helped to consolidate client retention, as the general focus for all was "the more you see them, the better for results" (Jimmy). Each Trainer, using their various personal experiences in gaining sports and fitness results had devised their own structured short-term "systems of training to build a foundation" (Sammie). In formally designing and writing individualised exercise programmes, these Trainers could then take charge of what their clients did and when they did it. They all believed that written prescriptions were not only the starting point for intervening in current lifestyle behaviours, but were what clients expected. Echoing the views of most other Trainers, Greg noted "We always have a structured programme and we kind of map out what we're going to do for six months." It was clear that formalised strategies and close supervision were early approaches adopted by these participants to deliver effective and timely positive outcomes for their new clients seeking change. Like the other participants, Misha says:

Designing and monitoring my client's training and nutrition plan is essential if they are to get results. I feel this is *so* (her emphasis) important but not to the point where it's obsessive or unrealistic. You have to keep it real.

Delivering clear, confident direction about what exercises to do and when to do them in the first instance was the norm for all study participants. And although this approach contrasts with community health promotion messages advocating generalised, ad-hoc 'snac-tivity' to *get people moving*, for the participants, taking a more formalised programming approach, not only expedited results but "minimised drop-out" (Barb) when

the risk for this was highest. It was therefore not uncommon that "in the early days you spent more time working on the physical because it's an easier place to start and it's a quicker place to get results," (Barry).

However, it wasn't only the exercise prescription that these Trainers concentrated on. In order to enhance positive outcomes for their clients, every Trainer knew that, whatever their client's goals, exercise intervention was only part of the game. Nutrition was the other part. Guiding clients towards new nutritional habits rated highly as one of their main roles as they strove towards assisting clients towards the results they desired. Appreciating that as more and more clients wanted to "lose weight and tone-up" (Sammie), offering nutrition advice had emerged as an increasing feature of their personal training product. It wasn't surprising then that all participants had strong views on the role of nutrition in their clients' overall progress.

Over the years I have learnt that for weight loss especially, you need to look at covering every aspect of what weight loss involves - making sure that they are committed to doing it and all the components of weight loss, such as looking at a nutrition programme and putting together a plan so that you know that they are eating correctly. Then you can monitor what they are eating. (Greg)

Nutrition plays a major role in my clients' progress towards meeting their health and fitness goals, no matter what those goals might be. It's generally accepted that it's impossible to out-train poor nutrition, and accordingly, my training philosophy involves encouraging clients to adopt healthy eating alternatives based on their existing food preferences. (Misha)

As Keri said;

Food is seen as quite important in the household of my Maori and Pacific Island clients. It's part of their culture to feed people vast amounts. We had to look at cutting out butter/cream/coconut milk and look at different ways of changing their diet because of their health and economic needs.

Exercise and nutrition prescription was the norm for all of the participants, however, they also knew that writing programmes did not guarantee client compliance. Their effectiveness as Trainers also relied on another strategy – getting clients to record their daily exercise and eating regimes in a diary. Recognising that if they were to facilitate clients' progress in a timely manner, then they (the Trainers) needed to know what was happening when the clients were on their own. Closely *monitoring* the progress of new clients mattered just as much as the in-depth interviewing process which provided a guide for structuring individualised programmes. Each participant was unanimous in their view that by asking their clients to self-report their patterns of activity and eating, they (Trainers) were better placed to check progress and keep the client "on track" (Greg). As Roberta says, "getting them to write down what they are doing on a daily basis is important to start with." For her this meant, "always asking questions, usually weekly within our sessions or by email/text or phone – always seeking accountability." Others agreed, especially when it came to food intake.

Once a month we do a week of food diaries. They come in and they tell me what they've done 'wrong', and they've marked it themselves. From thereon in, for three weeks, they're actually pretty good again. They get back onto their whole pattern of what's happening and how it should happen. (Greg).

Getting her "overweight, Maori and Pacific Island clients to keep daily food diaries" was also a critical aspect of Keri's approach with them. Being Maori herself and growing up in the community where she practised as a Trainer, she realised the important cultural value that many of her clients placed on food and entertaining. But for Keri, getting her clients to change their culturally-valued habits was too great a challenge. To achieve this she enlisted the assistance of a qualified nutritionist who lived out of the region to write their nutritional programmes. Hence, Keri moved her role to that of intermediary and motivator. Keri acknowledged the success of getting this "visiting nutritionist on board who deals with low income families so we could set up a plan and budget which was put

on their fridge." The effectiveness of this service was greatly enhanced as it was specifically aligned to the cultural and socio-economic needs of her Maori and Pacifica clients and appreciated for its relevance and appropriateness.

Communicating positively and monitoring food and exercise progress on a daily and weekly basis was acknowledged by all participants as vital in the early stages of the Trainer-Client relationship. However, the need for this varied from client to client and by no means guaranteed compliance. Each Trainer knew that in spite of the most effective "structured systems of training and nutrition" (Sammie), they also needed to prevent relapse and attempt to instill some sort of "discipline and dedication for exercise" (Roberta). To achieve this, the Trainers also assumed another role - that of *motivator*. Each had discovered that in committing to careers which "help clients change their lives for the better" (Keri), the chance of losing clients (and income) meant that, for their personal training product to be sustainable, they had also to apply strategies to *maintain client enthusiasm for change*.

Maintaining Enthusiasm for Change

Many might assume that people who seek the support of a Personal Trainer are highly motivated to change their lifestyle and become a little more physically active. In this study however, the Trainers reported that this was not always the case. They reported there was a need to regularly and relentlessly motivate and enthuse many of their clients towards the agreed goal(s). This provided a considerable challenge for the participants because, as they explained, their knowledge of motivational strategies and how to apply these in varying situations was sparse. Relying on the traditional goal setting discourse with which they were familiar,, that is, to set a goal or goals, and work steadily towards achieving them, was not very satisfactory. The participants were mostly "unaware of any research about exercise behaviour change" (Misha) and hence, relied on their knowledge gleaned from years of experience through "trial and error" (Greg) on how best to motivate clients.

With regards to knowing how best to motivate their clients all participants indicated a desire to know more. Knowledge about such matters was considered essential in order to

be a *really good* Trainer. Jimmy explained that from the time he became a Personal Trainer he "was *shopping* around to know about the behavioural stuff. I've learnt through trial and error, and even now I'm still learning about how to motivate a person mentally." The participants also believed that it was the on-going motivational aspect of their role and helping their clients maintain enthusiasm for change that most differentiated them from gym and aerobic instructors. For example, Keri said that at first she was "writing programmes and dealing with the physical changes" whereas now, a few years on, she was "having to come up with different motivational strategies all the time." The same was also true for Calvin:

It's changed, (*my role*), because when people used to turn up I went from everything that I learnt at university and I would write this programme and say 'this is what we're going to do'. I almost put that aside now with my clients and I'm more of a motivator – I get into a person's head; I goal-set for them and I'm a counselor sometimes.

All Trainers were unanimous about the importance of two matters to deal with during the initial consultation. The first was to find out the client's real (and sometimes undisclosed) motive for seeking the services of a Trainer. For example, some clients sought out a Trainer for weight loss but in reality the real reason was a desire to "lose weight for their wedding in three months time" (Sharna). Knowing a client's real motive meant that the Trainer was able to be more purposeful in offering support and ensure the goals were both realistic and tangible. Being able to do this ensured a more specific focus for the programme and whatever was prescribed would be seen as being pertinent to an immediate need.

I think you have to dig in and find what the motive is for them and keep working on it with them. At an initial consultation I encourage my clients to open up to me with their goals. Often I just ask them, 'if you could wake up tomorrow with your ideal body shape, how would you look?' This has been a great question to ask and brings out a lot of honesty with the client. I then follow up with a plan as to how we can work towards that goal. (Sharna)

The second question to deal with during the initial consultation process was to identify any barriers, real or perceived, as described by the client to being more physically active. As Roberta said, it was important to "find out about any barriers as fast as you can" because irrespective of what these are, they will most likely impede progress. But as Keri explained, it was important to know about more than the potential barriers, you need to also understand something about the person's life.

First of all you need to find out from your client what their barriers are, what has stopped them from exercising or feeling good about themselves and slowly start looking at eliminating these. Little steps at a time – not too much of a big change to shock them or freak them out. Then you need to monitor their progress and have little checkpoints along the way.

These Trainers knew from their years of experience that the first few weeks were critical to ensuring medium term involvement in more physical activity. It was the new clients who were at the most risk of "dropping-out" (Barb). It was imperative that each Trainer wrote a plan for clients who entrusted them to help them embrace a more physically active lifestyle. Having a document seemed to provide some comfort, reassurance and helped keep the clients "on track with their goals" (Sharna). Although this ensured some continuity with a programme, the requirements and circumstances of each client required subtle variations. In addition to writing a programme, other motivational strategies were based around probing for underlying and often undisclosed motives to be more active; identification of barriers and ways for over-coming these; trying to use a leadership style that suited the clients personality; maintaining a flexible approach to programming – it was their programme; encouraging the adage that some activity was better than nothing; and offering support for the client within and outside the training session if warranted.

One key to initial success was deciding on a strategy suited to the client's needs and circumstances. This also helped to generate some enthusiasm for change and was essential for establishing what was hoped to be a long-term trainer-client relationship. In some cases this was effectively done through group training. Keri described how she used

a group strategy to assist some of her clients both economically as well as motivationally to work towards changing their lifestyle:

My Pacific Island clients don't have much money so I have learnt to train them together. Not only is it cheaper for them to train in pairs but socially and motivationally it is good because they are helping and encouraging each other. When one is down and not motivated, the other one is saying – yes, let's go!

Recognizing that every one of his clients were pressured for time and lacked energy which affected their motivation to exercise, Barry gave them "a tool-box (of strategies) that they can go back to and they can keep using when they get stuck". This was considered to be just as important as the training itself during the initial weeks for it impacted positively on client retention and compliance. Once started on their programme, Barry would keep "bringing them back to what's working" and reminding them of their success to date even if this was in small measures.

Throughout their careers, all Trainers had worked with clients who were almost affronted by being asked to comply with exercise (and dietary practices). Because these were often fairly regimented and differed to current habits the challenge to change was more demanding than many clients had anticipated. It was no surprise therefore that the Trainers "heard all the excuses in the world" (Barb). This didn't phase them for they had learned when and how to exert authority over clients who lacked the desire to change.

All Trainers acquired an array of problem-solving skills to use when assisting clients negotiate work and family situations, motivation matters and lack of energy. When some of her clients offered a "lack of time excuses", Roberta says she simply described to them how her other "even busier clients" still manage to meet their daily and weekly exercise commitments. By "simply comparing other clients' even busier lifestyles against their own they then know that others are in the same boat but have ways of getting around it." This was an effective strategy that worked for some – no one wants to be seen as a

failure. There were, however stories told by all Trainers of clients who "simply dropped out for no apparent reason" (Sammie).

Using a direct, authoritative persona in the first few weeks became common practice in order to keep clients on target and have them appreciate the 'self discipline' required in order to make progress. For some unknown reason, every Trainer told numerous tales about how many of their clients who focused primarily on weight loss required more forceful approach than those wanting to just be more physically active. In Roberta's case, she used what was described as "a boot-camp approach at times" if there was a need to "get tough on some clients." Sharna described how she would engage in frank discussions with her clients and ask questions such as "how badly do you want it?" Greg believed he was initially "too soft" when starting our as a Trainer but now exerts authority by "being brutally honest" and "not beating around the bush when clients aren't doing what they are supposed to be doing". When working with his newer clients, particularly those intent on losing weight Jimmy would typically say something like:

Well look, I can't see that you can actually expect results if you aren't going to put a little time into your exercise programme, so unless we can find a way that you can fit it into your day, then there is no way that I can see that you will drop some weight.

Also adopting an authoritative approach but always with an optimistic attitude, Misha acknowledged she had to take a tough stance with some new clients:

I have a very honest and up-front approach with people. That comes from experience. If they aren't prepared to put the hard work in, then I suggest to them that they shouldn't waste their time or money. People often get a shock, but it does work, especially with obese clients.

From their personal experiences each Trainer knew that self-discipline was critical if their clients were to reap the rewards of their effort. Although not advocating the 'get assertive' as the only way, it was successful in the short term of getting and keeping some

clients on track towards achieving their goals. They were also conscious that their professional credibility was affected by the results achieved with their clients. They knew word of mouth is a great way to promote your ability but were also aware it can hinder business. Consequently, the Trainers were diligent about finding a motivation strategy in the initial weeks that 'worked' when some feeling of success was critical. All acknowledged that this sometimes meant exerting more authority and directness than preferred. But in order to be effective with such a strategy, the trainers had to also "listen to clients more" (Sammie) and always "provide regular, positive feedback on progress to keep them focused" (Misha).

Another successful motivational strategy employed by some Trainers was described as "enlisting client support" (Roberta). Although some thought that providing support for their clients beyond the training session wasn't warranted, others felt a need to take on this role. For Keri, her mobile personal training business covering a large area meant she wasn't able to see clients daily or weekly like some city-based Trainers. For her, enlisting other people to assist in supporting her clients' attempts to modify lifestyle was not only necessary but proved to be a very effective motivational strategy. When describing one of her corporate clients who struggled with weight control, she decided that the best approach was to:

Get his wife on board. Then she (the wife) started looking at what was in their fridge and what he was eating when away on business. She (wife) now serves the meals, closely monitors his nutrition when he is away and is part of his support system.

Sharna was another advocate for enlisting external support for her clients. This was something that she knew expedited results for those clients working towards a body shaping or body building competition. By meeting with her clients' family members she "ensured that families understood the overall commitment, discipline and cost required for my client's specialised training and eating regimes".

So in helping to move clients toward their respective goals, the Trainers employed a variety of motivational approaches. However, along with the relationship, the strategies

changed after the initial fitness and/or weight management goals were in sight or surpassed. The Trainers spoke of having to "change tack" (Keri) as they worked to have the clients set more long-term goals. They no longer felt a need to be the 'task-masters' that they had previously been. In fact, they all described the emergence of a different type of rapport and relationship with longer-term clients, more informal but just as rewarding for both parties. Explaining this, Roberta says:

How I get results now with my long-term clients is different. It is more by suggestion than any kind of dictation. The changes I have made over the years have probably been more around the interaction that I have with my longer-term clients.

It was not unusual for these Trainers to keep clients for months and years despite giving "them the tools to take responsibility for themselves for life" (Barry). And with the ongoing 'one-on-one' nature of the relationship between client and trainer, it was understandable that over longer periods of time, the Trainers got to know more about their clients' habits, lifestyle, family, work and social circumstances. Each Trainer explained how they were increasingly sought after to offer advice and 'problem-solving' in areas of the client's life beyond just that of exercise and nutrition.

Ensuring success helped to elevate the professionalism of Trainers as well as earning the trust and respect of the clients. And with increased trust and respect, many clients were willing to talk about other aspects of their life and valued their Trainer's opinions on a variety of matters. The majority of participants thus felt that although starting out as someone to help with exercise and physical wellbeing, their role and relationship with many long-term clients had developed into something different. Some described this as being similar to what they knew about "counseling" (Barb) or doing the work of a "social-worker" (Greg). The Trainers relished this expanded role and described it as being their client's *Life Coach*. This meant that on any given day the Trainers could be working with a new client in an authoritative way one hour and then switching into a much broader strategy for the next hour. The key point was that each client was an individual who needed to be valued and offered an appropriate service.

From Personal Trainer to Life Coach

Whilst none of the Trainers specifically defined what a life-coach was, many *perceived* that they had inadvertently taken on this role with their long-term clients. When describing having a "deeper connection" with her clients, Roberta explained, "When I was younger (*new to PT*), I didn't have the rapport with my clients that I do now – it's become sort of a 'life-coach' role I guess." Each Trainer acknowledged accommodating a more consultative and relational style with the clients who stayed with them for a year or more. Many believed they were now "mentors or life-coach mentors rather than just a physical coach," (Sammie) whilst Keri adopted a more "holistic approach" which meant she saw herself "helping people change their life, helping them to feel good about themselves and building their self-esteem."

When reflecting on their careers it was evident the Trainers had changed their approach in so many ways. Experience was one thing but being willing to adjust to the varying demands and requests meant they became successful in the professional practice. This job was about much more than prescribing exercise, especially with their long-term clients and the older ones. It seemed like coaching about life.

I think initially when I started (*personal training*) it was all about just teaching exercise and ways to do exercise. But now I am more of an educator and motivator and as I am studying life coaching as well, I am helping people lift their self-esteem, helping out with emotional problems that can bring barriers to exercise, so I am sort of helping people more that way. (Sharna)

They (clients) need someone at the end of their day when they're stressed or at the end of the week when they've had a guts-full of family life. You're their sounding board. You are basically a life-coach without having the training of a Life Coach. (Barb)

However, not all Trainers described themselves as a Life-Coach, despite this term referring to someone who assists clients in determining and achieving personal and life goals. Although renowned for taking a more spiritual and holistic approach in the practical side of his work as a Trainer, Barry's perception of his role with his long-term clients' differed from that of the other Trainers. He was adamant that he couldn't be described as a Life Coach. "I wouldn't describe myself as a 'Life Coach', because who's to say where their life is going to go. I'm just going to guide them, that's all." Greg was another who was not overly enthused by the term life coach and described a part of his work as a Personal Trainer in the following way:

We're social workers and motivators through and through. For people it's as much emotional fitness and health as it is physical fitness and health. I do the same as a hairdresser does. People want to come and talk and they don't necessarily want an opinion, they just want you to listen and say 'yes' or 'no'. People are so busy, they have so much happening, they want to come and off-load mental crap so they can go home and relax with their partners or family later on.

But semantics aside and life-coach or not, what these Trainers discovered throughout their careers was that having regular exercise and eating well is a continual struggle for many people. Fitness and nutrition routines require a discipline and dedication to 'self' that provides a considerable challenge, especially as people resolve to take on new lifestyle habits. In becoming 'Trainers', all participants realised that over time, they had moved on from being 'just' the exercise and sports-programme writers that each had been formally trained in. To be successful they had to give just as much emphasis to the motivational aspect with their clients as the exercise and nutrition aspects. By experimenting with a variety of persuasive strategies, they had become a formative expert in shaping and re-shaping the majority of their clients' beliefs and habits about exercise and health. Many described themselves as having become an essential player in the "journey with their clients" (Barb) or as Jimmy said, "helping them to 'live their dream'." This required nurturing a caring and relational role, and one that was a distinct "point of

difference between being a gym instructor or a personal trainer" (Roberta). It did require some 'expert' knowledge.

All Trainers agreed that it takes time, energy and an enormous amount of "learning on the job" (Calvin) to become a successful Personal Trainer. Learning about and using strategies to keep clients returning, keep them motivated and feeling good has evolved over time. Each Trainer has her/his recipe for on-going success – both for the client and the Trainer, something that serves to strengthen their retention of and longevity with clients. The reward for doing this is gaining a reputation as a credible and successful Trainer. As each Trainer progressed through the 'school of hard knocks' they undertook their own emotional journey to becoming recognized in their field. In becoming a highly sought after Trainer over many years, Barry reflects that:

You need to make yourself your own student. Because if you haven't walked the path and taken the journey yourself, then everything you're going to be teaching people is purely from a theory base and it's going to be very, very limited if you just follow a set of rules and a set of systems or programmes.

Being acknowledged by one's peers may be laudable but to maintain their status as 'good' Personal Trainers meant they had to keep 'up to date' with developments and implement effective programming and motivational strategies. Each Trainer was emphatic about "what worked for success and what didn't" (Sammie) when it came to retaining clients and ensuring they 'got results'. This was the measure of success and what mattered most in their professional lives. After all, being a Personal Trainer is a business dependent on clients returning and prospective clients deciding to choose their service over that of someone else. Like any professional practice, these Trainers explained how knowledge of what you are doing is paramount and credibility has to be earned. This is something that confronts any person entering the business.

Thoughts for Tomorrow's Trainers

The Trainers in this study explained how they had worked tirelessly and passionately to design and deliver a 'product' that ensured a high degree of consumer satisfaction. The

reasons for their success were attributed to knowledge gained 'on the job' and experimenting with ideas, rather than learning about 'what to do' in a more formal education setting. For those who still operated their business within health clubs or fitness centres they also took the opportunity to share ideas and observe others at work. This was particularly important when starting out on a career as a Trainer, even though there was no real mentoring or 'apprenticeship'. There was a need to 'hit the floor running', the clients were paying and expected results. In some cases some of the participants believed that in some clubs and centres there was too much of a "churn and burn approach" (Roberta). This was something that has potential to "devalue the profession" (Misha) and could potentially damage the reputation of Personal Training as a credible and lasting profession.

Credibility was an oft-used word by the participants. They were fully aware that to be noted as a credible profession within the broader health sector, having the "public confidence in their expertise and profession was critical" (Calvin). This could, however, be thwarted if "younger people entering the industry saw it as a short-term occupation before moving on to something else" (Misha). Several Trainers felt that some health clubs lacked the personnel and support systems to mentor new Trainers into the role. This was especially the case for those entering the profession or who had changed from being in full-time employment such as gym floor instructors and now had a desire to be self-employed Trainers. There were two main concerns expressed about the inadequate training and management of new Trainers. The first was that the current situation implied that the industry as a whole placed little importance on professional development and second, it left those starting out as Personal Trainers with no guarantee of income whilst trying to establish a client base. Barb captured the views of others when saying this failure to take the needs of new personal Trainers seriously "wasn't viable" if the profession was to develop in a coherent and systematic way.

The professional qualifications of these Trainers ranged from sport science degrees to teaching degrees to relevant fitness industry certification. Over the years they had all engaged in some form of professional development through courses and workshops.

Although undecided on the specific qualifications needed to be a Trainer, they voiced unanimous agreement on the traits, attributes and attitudes that new Trainers should have in order to survive into the long-term. The first thing Trainers of the future should have is plenty of "passion and enthusiasm" (Calvin) for the job. When working with clients they need to be seen to be "putting across a good impression of positive energy" (Greg) and to "be honest and have fun" (Sharna). It is important that they "become motivators" (Jimmy) and of course, "be great role-models" (Keri).

Throughout the years, these Trainers had learnt there was no demarcation between 'who' they were and 'what' they were selling. The attributes and attitudes mentioned above were inextricably linked in the promotion and production of 'fitness' to consumers. All remembered with some trepidation the apprehension they felt when commencing as Trainers. There was no doubt they all felt "under-qualified" (Barb) in most aspects of their work - recruitment, retention and motivation of clients. Relating to his experiences, Calvin advises:

If you are going to be a Trainer you need to be what you are selling, because we are selling ourselves by the hour. I think a really big thing is that people in this industry see that you are enthusiastic, positive, friendly, smiley, happy and importantly, that you look the part.

Because of the obesity-related health crisis permeating society there was some thought that future Trainers would benefit from gaining "qualifications and competencies in readiness for this type of work" (Misha). This means they would be better placed to "integrate with medical professionals" (Misha). They all agreed on the need to be in tune with current health issues and the need to "up-skill, up-skill, up-skill" (Sammie). This was important for the individual as well as a way to increase "public confidence in their ability to do the job" (Misha). However, there was no agreement on the precise nature of the breadth of knowledge required for the job. For example, Jimmy felt that new Trainers should "broaden their training. The more a Trainer can learn about stuff (pilates, yoga, vibration training), the greater their repertoire for use with clients." Identifying exercise and relaxation strategies that "connect the mind and body" was suggested by Barb, who

also thought that learning about "wellness and the mind-body connection is vital for new Trainers". Holding similar beliefs was Barry, emphasising that future Trainers might enjoy greater success if they "adopted a more holistic approach" with their clients.

Beyond the practice of working with clients, there was a suggestion that having some knowledge about managing and growing a business would be invaluable. The advice from all participants for those entering the profession was that running a personal training business was not something to learn by trial and error. Trainers should learn some "sound business skills" (Greg). As these Trainers found, being inefficient in this domain often led to being "financially stressed" (Roberta) and this ultimately distracted them from the real business of being a Personal Trainer.

New Trainers need to know how to manage their budgets. They might get a big wad of cash and then it disappears. I think finances and budgets are key aspects for their business in the beginning, because this is what makes or breaks them. (Greg).

Knowing how their life lessons and experiences had been invaluable when assisting their clients embrace alternative lifestyle habits and routines, the participants agreed future Trainers needed, what they all deemed, as a wide array of "life skills" (Barb). There was a unanimous claim about the need to be "effective communicators with any type of person from any background ... go work in a bar first!" (Sammie – laughing).

All of the Trainers appreciated that they had managed to forge their careers from often faltering starts with very little preparation for or insight about what lay ahead. Like Greg, they all believed that the ability to "change clients' behaviours and be an effective Personal Trainer comes down to the individual Trainer themselves and their life experiences." There was satisfaction in knowing that your knowledge and experience can make a difference to people's lives. Barry says:

We (*Trainers*) obviously have done (*prescribed*) some exercise programmes in the past that have been focused on a short fix. Well now we can probably do more than that. Good Coaches, good Trainers, they

pass on knowledge and experience. It tends to be a combination of both. ... We can teach and encourage people to make changes that are going to last for a long time. Changes that, they *(clients)* can take with them forever.

Summary

In the un-ravelling and interpretation of participants' stories, it is evident there is more to being a Personal Trainer than just putting clients through their exercise routines. Over time, each participant built up a "tool-box" (Barry) of approaches and strategies that could be used to convey and reinforce specific fitness, nutrition, lifestyle and motivational messages to their clients.

To build their (now) self-generating client base, each participant sought credibility, something that started well before they commenced their career as a Trainer. Constructing this credibility began early on, as each shaped and attended to their own fitness, physique or sporting successes. Beliefs and values relating to matters about health and fitness were consolidated over time having been influenced by various experiences and accessing 'new' knowledge. This ensured these Trainers approached their respective fitness settings with a feeling of confidence with what they were doing. There was a comfort in knowing they were recognized as having some level of expertise in managing and motivating their clients take on healthful behaviours.

Passion, determination and enthusiasm for the job were attributes that each of these Trainers held dearly. When this was mixed with a plethora of programming strategies and motivational strategies, they discovered how best to work with clients to ensure retention and results. As the Trainers gained experience, they also began assisting their clients towards longer-term lifestyle and personal goals. They discovered this extended beyond health and fitness and required a considerable investment of emotional energy and time. Although having limited knowledge about what was described as being a 'life coach', fulfilling this rather ambiguous role was seen as a positive and critical aspect to their

work given that the client initiated it. After all, this was a business dependent on not only recruiting clients, but also retaining them.

Chapter 5 - Discussion

In recent years the number of health and fitness clubs has continued to expand and the mass marketing of fitness and exercise as being desirable for good health continues in its many forms (Frew & McGillivray, 2005). Paradoxically the promotion of fitness is happening at a time of increasing inactivity and obesity in the general population (Smith Maguire, 2008; WHO, 2005). As the participants in this project had discovered during their years of personal training, the pursuit of good health through physical activity by many of the population is a dynamic and evolving process. They realised that although many individuals aspire to achieve the physical and biological changes that exercise routines promise, there is much more to the adoption and adherence to these new lifestyle routines, than expressing a desire. Turning intentions into long-term 'action' requires what Smith Maguire (2008a) refers to as, a "field of negotiations" (p. 3) as people struggle to accommodate exercise routines within a plethora of competing and often conflicting demands on their time, energy and motivation. The majority of clients of the Personal Trainers in this study were no exception.

Knowing the desire that many people have to 'get fit' or to improve their state of physical wellbeing, health clubs with varying agendas have appeared on the urban landscape offering a multitude of programmes that will 'change one's body' and state of being. There is however, a realisation by those working in the fitness industry that meanings associated with 'exercise and fitness' have changed. Although history tells us that exercise and fitness regimes originally emerged from a need for governments to increase the fitness of military recruits (Bouchard, Shephard & Stephens, 1994), the focus today is on physical activity that is more closely aligned to good health and appearance than anything else. In response to demands from an appearance-driven but 'time-poor' sector of society, personal training is increasingly offered as a one-on-one service to health-club members. It is no surprise therefore, that with the two primary motives of 'health' and 'appearance-improvement' filling the minds of many fitness participants (Biddle & Mutrie, 2008), the growth of occupations such as Personal Training has continued on an upward trend (IDEA, 2000; REPS, 2008). The Trainers in this study all noted, however,

that this is a very competitive and attractive career and the clients are willing to 'shop around' until they find the Trainer best suited to them.

The views of participants in this study echoed a number of studies which explain that exercise is a complex behavioural process relying on a range of internal and external factors affecting people's level of motivation and commitment as they adopt, maintain, relapse from, and resume their exercise regimes (Biddle & Mutrie, 2008; Buckworth & Dishman, 2002; McElroy, 2002; McKenna & Riddoch, 2003; Pringle, 2008; SPARC, 2003). According to Redding, (1995) the need for added motivation and self-discipline is one of the primary reasons why individuals hire Personal Trainers, and the findings in this study endorse such a claim. Although no attempt was made to qualify the correlates and determinants of behaviour against models of behaviour change, using an interpretive research approach allowed for a personal exploration of the way Trainers attempted to intervene in and modify their client's lifestyle.

During the interviews all participants explained a number of challenges when attempting to encourage their clients to change their exercise and nutrition behaviour. Nevertheless, they were optimistic the many so-called barriers were not insurmountable. In fact, through their almost evangelical belief in the merits of 'being fit and healthy', each Personal Trainer had devised their own set of common principles through which they attempted to influence and encourage people to overcome any *resistance* to exercise. They were adamant that this is what Trainers 'do' on a daily basis as part of their job. Over time they learned what 'ingredients' were essential to include in their behaviour-change 'recipe' and how to apply these strategies in a way that ensured client satisfaction. The Trainers knew that presenting themselves as confident and competent professionals, people who were recognised for their expertise, was crucial to their business success – their ability to attract and keep new clients.

The study participants worked as self-employed Trainers in different parts of New Zealand and despite working independently of each other, the findings confirm that they had all arrived at similar 'modus operandi' with their intervention practices. Although

they were not able to articulate any contemporary research relating to principles or theories of behaviour change outlined in the literature, (Annesi & Whitaker, 2008; Biddle & Mutrie, 2008; Bock, Marcus, Pinto & Forsyth, 2001), each had devised a variety of initiatives to try and increase client adherence and compliance to new fitness and dietary routines. Whilst their strategies were not entirely dissimilar to those recommended in the intervention literature, (e.g. identifying barriers to change; goal-setting; getting clients to keep diaries, facilitating support networks), in some areas, the study participants offered an alternative approach. For example, they all adopted a prescriptive, authoritative approach with their clients, something that clearly differed from the TTM conventions of counselling clients to choose their own exercise regimes. How they decided on their respective approaches was unclear, but it is possible they drew on their own ealier experiences with sport and physical activity. But Smith Maguire (2008b) has a different interpretation. She assumes that clients 'expect' Personal Trainers' to exert influence and authority. Why? Because, "when clients look to Personal Trainers' to act like drillsergeants" (p. 220), they (clients), pass the responsibility for accomplishing the exercise on to the disciplinarian as, they have become "burdened with the obligation of selfmanagement" (p. 220).

Using the methodology of grounded theory, specific areas that this study highlighted were:

- the study participants all considered it was important to represent themselves to prospective and current clients as confident, knowledgeable, enthusiastic leaders and role models.
- the study participants had independently developed similar support strategies both to elicit and to maintain their clients' progression towards intended goals.
- the study participants all considered there was a need for some aspects of their 'knowledge' to lie outside the conventional 'fitness' discourse.

Representation of Self – putting the 'personal' into personal training:

The way each Trainer positioned him/herself as a role model and knowledgeable, authoritative but enthusiastic communicator of a 'fit' lifestyle was a dimension that

contributed to the motivational climate of the personal training session. All of the Trainers considered that their status as a role-model, along with their ability to be perceived as 'walking the talk' enabled them to attract and retain clients. They also believed that their own enthusiasm for being fit and healthy had an important part to play in motivating their clients to contemplate changing their lifestyle. It is well known that people newly engaging in exercise programmes are more driven by extrinsic motives (e.g. losing weight and looking good), whereas long-term participants thrive on intrinsic motives (e.g. enjoyment and inherent value of exercise). It may well be that the Trainers believe, as Overdorf (2005) contends, "there is an image involved in this communication" (p.252). This representation of self may then contribute in part, to the extrinsic motivation of some clients, (Buckworth & Dishman, 2002; Overdorf, 2005; Roberts, 2001; Weinberg & Gould, 2003). Promoting and projecting an appropriate 'image' in order to influence and change their clients' perceptions also validates what Overdorf terms 'transformational leadership', that is, "if we want to influence others to embrace healthy lifestyles that include physical activity, we have to be healthy and fit ourselves" (p. 252). Smith Maguire (2008b) seems to agree. The cultivation of 'image' is important for the Trainer, she believes. By looking, sounding and acting like a fitness authority the Trainer "cultivates a client's trust" (p.220) thus, convincing the client to "delegate part of their self-managing to one who is more skilled" (p. 220).

Despite little research having been undertaken in understanding the type of motivational climate offered by exercise leaders in fitness settings (Biddle & Mutrie, 2008; Bray, Millen, Eidsness & Leuzinger, 2005; McElroy, 2002), it is suggested that relationships and interactions with others can have a strong impact on behaviour (Buckworth & Dishman, 2002; Biddle & Mutrie, 2008). Maintaining a positive motivational climate during and between each personal training session, was recognised by all Trainers as a contributing factor in not only getting clients started with new routines but also keeping them 'on-task.' Modulating their style of communication to suit the motivational state of individual clients during a personal training session was a skill that all had developed in order to enhance client motivation.

Communication is imperative to the 'change vision' according to Overdorf (2005) and by adopting a more authoritative communication style in the first instance, the Trainers 'took control' of their clients' transition and 'journey' towards their goals. This 'change' was invariably achieved by exerting knowledgeable authority on the how, what and when of new exercise and nutrition behaviours. All related how relevant this style of communication was in assisting weight loss clients especially to stay 'on-task'. Once a client progressively attained his or her initial goals (and assumingly greater barriers and task self-efficacy), the Trainers changed their style, adopting a more collegial and 'life-coaching' relationship with clients. In learning to vary their style of communication according to the emotional and motivational needs of their clients, the Trainers' practice was in line with the views of many researchers. The social environment and the "importance of the exercise leader for continued support and motivation of physical activity" (Biddle & Mutrie, p. 148) may well evolve as a significant area of research in the future say a number of experts, (Biddle & Mutrie, 2008; Bray, Millen, Eidsness & Leuzinger, 2005; Marcus & Forsyth, 2003; Overdorf, 2005).

Lending Support

The behavioural determinant of 'social support' includes the dimensions of emotional, informational and material support (Biddle & Mutrie, 2008), but the exact nature and dimensions of this 'support' are seldom clarified for health promoters. However, the study participants did clarify the nature of this 'support' in a personal training context. Unbeknown to each other, they each developed similar methods for nurturing and guiding clients towards their intended goals. These methods are summarized and discussed below:

- 1. During the initial consultation they engaged in an in-depth exploration of the clients' reasons (motives) for wanting to adopt a more active lifestyle, as well as identifying any barriers which might hinder client progress,
- 2. They developed a personalised, written prescription of exercise in the first instance, as well as undertaking nutritional consultation with clients (especially for weight loss clients)

- 3. The Trainers 'became' their client's 'social support', except in some instances, where other means of support were established for weight loss clients.
- 1. Initial consultations 'Cutting to the Chase' In order that an appropriate and targeted intervention plan could be designed, the study participants all 'cut to the chase' seeking physical and psychological sources of information which were deemed most relevant for encouraging adherence. The Trainers all held similar views on the content of the initial consultation, and although not dissimilar to the content that is recommended in the genre of fitness counselling, they mainly sought information which gave 'greater meaning' to their ability to assist the client towards their desired results in a realistic time frame.

The implementation of a brief physical assessment is standard practice in fitness counseling, allowing Trainers to obtain relevant baseline information from which to develop an exercise programme. All the participants found, however, that two primary categories of information sitting within a psychological context were of as much value to them as the fitness assessment. With their reputations for getting 'results' always on the line, each of these Trainers focused on exploring more deeply, client motives for participation, as well as seeking perceived or real barriers to progress. Obtaining this information allowed the Trainers to more readily influence client motivation and adherence within the first few weeks. Sourcing these two categories of psychological information though, contrasted with the broader consultation framework recommended in motivational interviewing, a method of consultation which these Trainers had little knowledge of. The ethos of motivational interviewing is that motivation for change should come from the client rather than be imposed on them by the counselor. Typically, dimensions for discussion in an initial consultation include a broad range of issues such as decisional balance (weighing up the pro's and con's of exercise); social support; goal negotiation and strategies for relapse prevention (Biddle & Mutrie, 2008; Mutrie & Woods, 2003). Although some dimensions of motivational interviewing were included by the participants in the initial consultation, they really only discussed what they, not the clients, felt mattered. By exploring information about motives and barriers, they believed they were then better able to effectively reinforce client motives when motivational relapses occurred, and counsel on solutions when barriers were present.

Motivational interviewing is a style of counselling, which, it is contended, holds much promise for changing physical activity levels of individuals. Emerging from Transtheoretical model research, (Biddle & Mutrie, 2008; Cardinal & Kosma, 2004; Hershberger, Edwards & Rudisill, 2005; Rollnick & Miller, 1995; Schofield, McLean & Croteau, 2006), it has offered a consultation framework to health specialists involved in assisting people to take on new healthy behaviours such as smoking cessation or physical activity uptake, (Costain & Croker, 2005; Elley, Kerse, Arroll et al, 2005). This style of counselling is promoted as being helpful for moving clients from a contemplation stage of readiness to a preparation and action stage (Marcus & Forsyth, 2003). It is also promoted to exercise consultants such as Personal Trainers (Biddle & Mutrie, 2008; Marcus & Forsyth, 2003).

According to the findings in this study, motivational interviewing may not entirely suit the needs of Trainers. They believed that people who hire the services of a Trainer are already in the 'action' stage of readiness, and have expectations that the Trainer will 'take control' to some extent during the first few weeks. In this regard, the client-centred counselling style which is intended to empower the client to take control over decisions regarding exercise participation may not entirely suit when a client is starting out. In order to increase a client's self-efficacy and confidence in overcoming barriers and ensure adherence in the first few weeks of training, the Trainers believed they had to 'take hold of the reins'. This often involved adopting an authoritative style, where they continually assisted clients to overcome obstacles, making decisions about the where, when and what of exercise and leading them down the path of 'least resistance'.

In this respect, motivational interviewing which encourages individuals to *adopt self-regulatory* behaviours to control addictions, may not be appropriate in the personal training context. But the information that is obtained in the initial consultation is of great importance. Ultimately the information that the Trainers elicited was what enabled them

to motivate their clients. In the tenets of Social Cognitive Theory, which describes human behaviour as being reciprocally determined by internal personal factors and the environment within which a person lives, they could then influence action through the development of 'self-belief' (Schwarzer, 2001).

2. Initiating New Exercise and Dietary Habits A number of commentaries (e.g. Weber, 2001), suggest that written exercise 'prescriptions' are of little worth to healthy populations as they undermine the appreciation of physical activity's inherent worth. Nevertheless, every one of these Trainers defied this suggestion 'prescribed' systems of training, setting goals and targets for their clients to achieve in the first few weeks. Not only did the study participants believe that this was an 'expected' part of their service provision to paying clients, but saw it as a necessary strategy for *initiating* regular habits of exercise.

Motivation for physical activity is known to be more robust if it involves greater choice and self-determination, rather than being controlled externally (Biddle & Mutrie, 2008). The study findings however, suggest that the Trainers did indeed try to take charge of the clients' exercise and nutrition decisions in the initial two or three months. This was contrary to an increasing trend in public health promotion towards self-regulated 'active living' initiatives, where exercise behaviours are encouraged but not strictly prescribed or monitored (Biddle & Mutrie, 2008; Dubbert, 2002; Elley, Kerse, Arroll et al, 2005; Pringle, 2008; Sparc, 2003; van Aalst & Daly, 2004). It must be noted however, that working with individually-tailored, goal-oriented prescriptions allowed the Trainers to generate momentum for behaviour change in the first instance and effectively monitor and review their clients' actions and progress.

Although the effectiveness of follow-up methods in public health interventions is still relatively unknown (Adams & White, 2005; Elley, Kerse, Arroll & Robinson, 2003; Pringle, 2008), the prescription of exercise training and nutrition routines is more evident. Through the development of a specific exercise and nutrition plan the Trainers believed that they took on the role of 'agents of change', giving shape to an appropriate course of

action for their clients. By setting and monitoring their individual client's patterns of exercise behaviour and by managing as closely as possible the cognitive and environmental conditions under which the exercise behaviour occurred, they were enabling their clients to do what Bandura, (2001) advocates as, taking "the first step towards doing something to affect behaviour" (p. 7). Once clients were under way with the plan, Trainers then set increasingly challenging daily and weekly goals, monitoring for any relapse-behaviour, sparking what Bandura terms, "strong interest and engrossment" (p.7) from clients in their activities.

The importance that each Trainer placed on structured exercise programming and nutritional accountability for their weight loss clients was also significant. And although Weber, (2001) argues that exercise 'prescription' per se in its clinical sense is diametrically opposed to its perception as a directive for exercise, the study participants all expected their weight loss clients to maintain an account of their eating as well as exercise routines. The Trainers all believed that asking their weight loss clients to keep a written record of eating and exercise fostered greater accountability in clients and allowed for the identification of relapses in schedules. They considered that this enhanced their ability to monitor progress and instigate problem-solving actions with required. The practice of getting their weight loss clients to routinely diary their nutritional intake for the first few weeks was compatible with the United States National Weight Control Registry findings (Hills & Byrne, 2006; Wing & Hill, 2001). It has been reported that over 80% of successful weight loss study participants were found to have kept a food and exercise diary for the first six months – not that the Trainers in this study were aware of such outcomes.

Through the initiation of their tailored systems of exercise training as well as their discussions with clients about nutrition, the study participants were essentially taking care of the 'here and now', setting daily and weekly activity and nutrition goals in an effort to galvanize their clients into action. This is a process that gives rise to "self-reactive influence through performance comparison with personal goals and standards" (Bandura, 2001, p.7). Prescribing 'what to do' with regards to exercise and nutrition was therefore

an important support strategy each Trainer implemented. It was important, because ultimately, the goal of each Trainer was to deliver a service which led clients towards what Bandura terms, "a valued future" (p.7). There was also another dimension to this; these Trainers felt when a client achieved his/her goal(s), their credibility was enhanced within the Personal Training profession and they were seen as being successful.

3. Support for 'Social Support' The dynamic of 'social support' is often defined in motivational terms as the social influence people exert on the physical activity patterns of others (Biddle & Mutrie, 2008; Sallis & Owen, 1999). With social support from significant others delivering strong positive associations with physical activity uptake and adherence (Dishman, 2001; Dishman, Washburn & Heath, 2004), it was somewhat surprising that only one of the study participants mentioned this as a specific strategy which was used to maintain client progress. Operating in an isolated community, it was Keri who set up a number of 'support' strategies for her clients. Specifically, she had group training for her lower socio-economic clients; spouse support for her male corporate client who traveled frequently; and support from a visiting nutritionist for her Maori and Pacific Island clients. Although her rationale for instigating these support initiatives was not entirely made clear during the interviews, there was some discussion around her concerns for her lower socio-economic clients who, she believed, needed ongoing motivation and support to lose weight. Because she did not see them as regularly as other clients, she was very aware of the risk they posed in 'dropping-out'. Although not aware of the literature surrounding the use of support partner's in weight loss programmes, Keri's approach in extending and inviting support for her weight loss clients corresponds to the work of researchers in this area (Gorin, Phelan, Tate, Sherwood, Jeffery & Wing, 2005; Wing & Hill, 2001).

Social support can come from many sources including exercise leaders, (Marcus & Forsyth, 2003), and the study participants were no exception. Through the information gleaned from clients in the initial consultation, the development of exercise and nutrition plans to meet client needs, and a climate delivered to specifically engage the emotional and motivational needs of clients, it appears that, in influencing their clients towards the

adoption and maintenance of new habits, they had each learnt what it took to effectively become their clients' 'social support'.

The Knowledge Dilemma – bringing it all together

It is important to reiterate that for most of these study participants, commencing a career as a personal trainer meant that they were entering into 'uncharted territory'. All bar two, had commenced their career more than a decade ago when the profession was in its infancy. Although many held sufficient certification to give them adequate training in the technical and prescription aspects of their role, there was a body of knowledge that was missing. After commencing as Trainers, each realised that in order to successfully guide their clients towards their intended goals, they needed to engage in 'different ways of knowing' (Sparkes, 1992). It wasn't too long therefore, before they started to add the provision of advice on nutrition, lifestyle and psychological agendas to their product-mix. None of the study participants considered that these agendas fell outside their legitimate domain of "competence and influence" (Gavin, 1996 p.55). Drawing on their personal life-changing and sporting experiences as well as their 'learning on the job', each of these Trainers believed that they had the necessary skills, experience and attributes to be their clients' formative expert on a range of issues. It was also a salient opinion held by many that qualifications don't determine the personality of the Trainer and the quality of the service - dimensions which were acknowledged by all participants, as differentiating Trainers in an increasingly competitive market.

Another area they identified as lacking when they started out, was their business acumen. What they had learnt over many years was that their success as Trainers did not sit only within a fitness paradigm. To survive financially in the longer-term, they also needed to gain entrepreneurial skills. This included being able to promote and market their services, sell sessions to new clients and then develop strategies to retain them. Although many recognised that these areas are better addressed by the fitness-education industry now, most confirmed that client behaviour-change, business expertise and nutrition (along-side exercise programming knowledge), remain priority areas of knowledge for all Trainers. These areas of expertise were considered to be even more important if high standards of

personal training in the industry are to be maintained and Trainers are to be recognised as "credible professionals in the eyes both of consumers and other health professionals" (Smith Maguire, 2008 p.162).

An emerging dilemma in the personal training industry relates to Trainer perceptions of their role as nutrition advisors and the boundaries of their practice endorsed through the Registration of Exercise Professionals (REPS). The REPS level criteria recommend only a limited amount of nutritional guidance be given to clients, unless a Trainer has specialist nutrition qualifications, although this isn't clearly defined. Despite the REPS recommendations, the findings from this study clearly show that all of the Personal Trainers offered what they considered, quite in-depth nutritional counselling to clients, although none had specific 'qualifications' in nutrition. Most had derived their nutrition knowledge from industry workshops, short-courses, seminars, conferences and readings. There was a general endorsement of nutrition knowledge as a necessary attribute that Trainers must have, although none of them mentioned that they felt a need for new Trainers entering the industry to gain extra education and qualifications in nutrition. This is an area that the greater fitness industry might need to address in the future.

Summary:

In a systematic review of physical activity interventions aimed at individuals and groups, Kahn et. al. (2002) argued there is no one formula which has the greatest impact on individuals and whole populations. The Trainers in this study might argue, however, that they did indeed have a formula for success, both for their clients and ultimately for themselves. Coincidentally, they had all mapped out similar processes for delivering the 'how and what' of client 'support'. And although each participant did implement behaviour-changing strategies that reflected the intervention literature, to some degree, they had also developed alternative strategies based on their previous experiences and intuition. Through the implementation of appropriately tailored prescriptions of exercise, the enforcement of recording practices and the creation of the right motivational climate, each of these Trainers wholeheartedly and determinedly became their client's 'support vehicle', encouraging and in most cases, enabling new habits 'for life'.

Chapter 6 – Conclusion

Personal training as a career option has been on the increase for over a decade and there are many Trainers, like the ones in this study, who have achieved success in motivating and assisting individuals from all walks of life to take on new lifestyle practices. As the 'body' has increased its symbolic value (Frew & McGillivray, 2005), an increasing number of individuals have sought out these Trainers as knowledgeable resources for some form of inspiration and direction in attaining their own health or fitness goals. With an increased clientele (and often a waiting list of clients), every one of the study participants eventually discovered what it took to keep clients returning. In so doing, they were able to maintain a financially viable, professional, worthwhile personal training business.

In becoming a Personal Trainer, the participants in this study endured a rather steep learning curve in the early stages of their career. Each discovered over a period of time that their role was not just about assessing fitness and 'prescribing a programme'. Unbeknown to them at first, it was far more complex than anticipated. In assisting and supporting clients to pursue their individual goals over the years, the Trainers all describe how they developed a 'tool-box' of approaches and strategies. This included a variety of ways to convey messages about fitness to their clients and a range of both subtle and not-so-subtle messages that ensured their clients returned for more sessions. Rather than pursuing strategies and approaches suggested in the behaviour-change literature, their 'ways of knowing' have been fine-tuned as the job evolved. In essence they were dependent on seeking new and retaining their current clients in order to make a living.

Over time and with experience they all learnt to 'read the needs' and then 'sell themselves' to prospective clients. They were constantly pondering what approach would best assist each client to modify her/his lifestyle practices - primarily in the short term. In order to succeed with this, each constructed their 'image' as a Personal Trainer - an image which assisted them to market themselves as knowledgeable and authoritative role models. They also offered education and counseling on a variety of subjects, not just

physical activity and fitness. Their perception of and for, 'self' became a significant influence on their belief and ability to mediate and negotiate behaviour change in clients.

During their years as Personal Trainers, each of the participants were aware that many exercise textbooks portrayed 'fitness' as a means to an end, reduced health risks, improved appearance or both. What the textbooks failed to convey, however, was how difficult it is to translate their clients' *intention*-to-change into *actual* change. Irrespective of their experience and wealth of on-the-job knowledge, this remained a notable challenge. Each Trainer in this study had therefore, devised approaches which they believed better influenced their clients to take on new exercise and nutrition behaviours. In essence, they became 'agents of behaviour-change' because they developed an ability to deliver what mattered most to their clients – satisfactory results for their effort. This mattered because ultimately, their ability to market themselves as *credible* and *trustworthy* was what each relied on to sustain their business.

Oblivious to the abundance of research on behaviour-change (e.g., Biddle & Mutrie, 2008; Bock, Marcus, Pinto & Forsyth, 2001; Buckworth & Dishman, 2003; Dubbert, 2002; McElroy, 2002; Sullivan, Oakden, Young, Butcher & Lawson, 2003) as well as how the other participants went about their work, each participant adopted similar practices in attempting to intervene in the lifestyle behaviours of their clients. In some instances these intervention approaches confirmed existing recommendations, (e.g. seeking underlying motives to change; understanding barriers to progress; recording dietary intake; identifying relapse prevention strategies), whilst in other instances they differed, (prescribing individual exercise routines; manipulating the motivational climate; counselling on nutrition; becoming their client's primary source of support rather than relying on other sources). Of particular significance was the way in which each Trainer adopted leadership and counseling practices that placed them in greater control of their client's exercise and nutrition behaviours. This also helped to ensure the clients would achieve the desired outcomes in the first instance. This exertion of authority contrasted with recommendations arising from motivational interviewing research, prevalent in medical settings, whereby individuals are counseled into making their own decisions regarding the self-regulation of new activity practices, (e.g. Biddle & Mutrie, 2008; Rollnick & Miller, 1995; Schofield, McLean & Croteau, 2006). The importance of their role as a nutritional counselor was also noted. Although having no formal qualifications in this subject area, they each acknowledged that this was becoming an important aspect of their service. Indeed it was a service they believed that most clients expected them to provide, especially their weight loss ones.

Prior to this study, seeking the views of Personal Trainers with regards to their work has been non-existent in the New Zealand fitness literature. Although this qualitative study using grounded theory only required a small sample of Personal Trainers and could be seen by some as a limitation, it was actually a strength of the research. Adopting this approach ensured all participants had a voice via the in-depth interviews. As the Trainers recounted their personal training 'journey', their stories provided rich data from which the grounded theory methodology allowed a number of distinct themes to emerge. Such an approach led us back to their world for a further look at the everyday life of that being explored, allowing a deeper reflection on the phenomenon under investigation (Charmaz, 2006). These were all very experienced Trainers and it is not known how representative their stories are compared with others in the business. Nevertheless, their views about personal training do represent an *insiders* point of view, albeit an experienced one, about the everyday work of a Personal Trainer. Although this research is not offered as a definitive truth about 'how to be' a successful Personal Trainer, the study does highlight that what occurs in different venues amongst different Trainers is very similar.

The findings in this study give credence to the Personal Trainer's ability to resolve and rationalise the notion of 'working out' as a good use of leisure time for their clients. According to Smith Maguire (2008a), Personal Trainers are the "perfect fitness field participants" (p. 184). They not only look the part but they have become ideal producers and consumers of fitness as they go about 'selling' their own lifestyle. In developing a successful career as a Personal Trainer, they also enhance the "social recognition of fitness as a legitimate field of expertise." (Smith Maguire, 2008a, p. 185).

With sedentary lifestyle escalating it seems that for many, exercise has lost its appeal and is no longer pleasurable. Although the inherent benefits of exercise are often what keeps many long-term exercisers adhering to an active lifestyle, an increasing number of the population struggle to feel 'at home' with any form of physical activity known to produce 'healthy' benefits. In this respect, advocating for a greater proportion of the population to engage in physical activity is beginning to feature more deliberately on various health promotion agendas. At present those at the front-line of health-promoting behaviour change are encouraged to put existing theory into practice. However, this study acknowledges that, for Personal Trainers at least, there may be areas in which existing theory fails them. According to Adams and White (2005), this is probably the case, for the physical activity promotion models and theories tend to ignore the structural and environmental influences on physical activity.

The perspectives of how these Trainers went about their business definitely had a 'before' and 'after' flavour. They altered their communication style, support regimes and motivational approaches as they firstly, initiated behaviour-change then secondly, assisted their clients into maintenance mode after initial client results were attained. Perhaps then, in the one-on-one personal training situation, there exist two prime phases of intervention and type of leadership which is best used to inspire 'change' - a short term prescriptive, more authoritative approach to facilitate adherence and compliance to new routines, followed by more empowering, collegial and less-prescriptive approaches to facilitate maintenance into the longer term. Through incorporating these two phases of intervention into their service, the Trainers in this study were able to foster their clients' skills, knowledge, problem-solving abilities and more importantly, their confidence to remain physically active. By teaching and coaxing their clients to persist at and return to their exercise in the first instance, they were attempting to bring to their clients, the experiential rewards and flow (Csikszentmihalyi, 1997) that they themselves had discovered through their personal exercise experiences many years ago. Then, through influencing client adherence and compliance, all participants were optimistic that they would (and could) eventually evoke an on-going internal motivation and self-discipline within their clients, enabling them to ultimately stay 'active for life'.

References

- Adams, J. & White, M. (2005). Why don't stage-based activity promotion interventions work? *Health Education Research*, 20(2) 237-243. Retrieved August 24th, 2006, from http://her.oxfordjournals.org/cgi/content/abstract/20/2/237
- Ainsworth, B. (2005). Movement, mobility and public health. Quest, 57, 12-23
- Ajzen, I. & Fishbein, M. (1980). *Understanding attitudes and predicting social behaviour*. Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey: Prentice-Hall.
- Ajzen, I. & Madden, T.J. (1986). Prediction of goal-directed behaviour: Attitudes, intentions and perceived behavioural control. In R. Dishman (Ed.), 1994, *Advances in exercise adherence* (p 127). Champaign, Illinois: Human Kinetics.
- AHA, American Heart Association (2007). Physical activity and public health. Updated recommendations for adults from the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Heart Association. *Circulation*, *1-13*. Retrieved August, 6th, 2007 from: http://circ.ahajournals.org
- Annesi, J. (2001). Supporting exercisers: Keep 'em coming back. Research in exercise psychology uncovers the keys to effective exercise retention strategy. *Perspective*, 27(4), 38-40.
- Annesi, J. (2003). Effects of a cognitive behavioural treatment package on exercise attendance and drop-out in fitness centers. *European Journal of Sport Science*, 3(2), 1-16
- Annesi, J. (2004). Relationship of social cognitive theory factors to exercise maintenance in adults. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, *99*, 142-148. Retrieved October 15th, 2007 from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=pubmed&dopt=Abstract&list_uids=15587206&query_hl=1
- Annesi, J. & Otto, L. (2004). Relationship between number of exercise counselling sessions attended and adherence to a new exercise program. *Psychological Reports*, 94, 907–908.
- Annesi, J. & Whittaker, (2008). Weight loss and psychologic gain in obese women Participants in a supported exercise intervention. [Electronic version]. *The Permanente Journal*, 12(3), 37-45. Retrieved August 24th, 2008 from: http://xnet.kp.org/permanentejournal/sum08/Sum08.pdf#page=38
- Armitage, C. (2005). Can the theory of planned behaviour predict the maintenance of physical activity? *Health Psychology*, 24(3), 235-245.

Armstrong, C., Sallis, J., Hovell, M. & Hoffstetter, C. (1993). Stages of change, self-efficacy and the adoption of vigorous exercise: a prospective analysis. *Journal of Sport & Exercise Psychology*, 15, 390-402.

Ashworth, P. (1997). Breakthrough or bandwagon? Are interventions tailored to stage of change more effective that non-staged interventions? *Health Education Journal*, *56*, 166–174.

Auerbach, C.F. & Silverstein, L.B. (2003). *Qualitative data: an introduction to coding and analysis*. New York: University Press.

Bandura, A. (1986). *Social foundations of thought and action: A social cognitive theory.* Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey: Prentice Hall.

Bandura, A. (2001). Social cognitive theory: An agentic perspective. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 52, 1-26

Baranowski, T., Cullen, K., Nicklas, T., Thompson, D. & Baranowski, J. (2003). Are current health behavioral change models helpful in guiding prevention of weight gain efforts? *Obesity Research*, *11*, 23-43.

Bauman, A., Bellew, B., Vita, P., Brown, W. & Owen, N. (2002). *Getting Australia Active – towards better practice for the promotion of physical activity*. Melbourne, Australia: National Health Partnership.

Bauman, A., McLean, G., Hurdle, D., Walker, S., Boyd, J., van Alst, I. & Carr, H. (2003). Evaluation of the national 'Push Play' campaign in New Zealand – creating population awareness of physical activity. *Journal of the New Zealand Medical Association*, 116, 1179.

Becker, M.H. (1974). The health belief model and personal health behaviour. *Health Education Quarterly*, 2, 324-473.

Belk, R.W. (2006). *Handbook of qualitative research methods in marketing*. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.

Biddle, S. J., Markland, D., Gilbourne, D., Chatzisarantis, N., & Sparkes, A. (2001). Research methods in sport and exercise psychology: Quantitative and qualitative issues. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 19, 777-809.

Biddle, S.J. & Mutrie, N. (2008). *Psychology of physical activity: Determinants, well-being and interventions*. Oxon, London: Routledge

Biddle, S. & Smith, A. (1991). Motivating adults for physical activity: Towards a healthier present. *Journal of Physical Education, Recreation & Dance*, 62(7), 39-43

Bock, B., Marcus, B., Pinto, B. & Forsyth, L. (2001). Maintenance of physical activity following an individualized motivationally tailored intervention. <u>Annals of Behavioral Medicine</u>, 23(2), 77-87.

Booth, M., Bauman, A., Owen, N. & Gore, C. (1997). Physical activity preferences, preferred sources of assistance and perceived barriers to increased activity among physically inactive Australians. *Preventive Medicine*, 26, 131-137.

Bouchard, C., Shephard, R. & Stephens, T. (Eds). (1994). *Physical activity, fitness and health: International proceedings and consensus statement*. Champaign, Illinois: Human Kinetics.

Bowen, G.A. (2006). Grounded theory and sensitizing concepts. [Electronic version]. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 5(3),1-9.

Bray, S., Millen, J., Eidsness, J. & Leuzinger, C. (2005). The effects of leadership style and exercise program choreography on enjoyment and intentions to exercise. [Electronic version]. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, 6(4), 415-425.

Brehm, B. (2004). Successful Motivation Strategies. Champaign, Illinois: Human Kinetics.

Bruce, C.D. (2007). Questions arising about emergence, data collection and its interaction with analysis in a grounded theory study. [Electronic version]. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 6(1), 1-7.

Brug, J., Oenema, A. & Ferreira, I. (2005). Theory, evidence and intervention mapping to improve behavior nutrition and physical activity interventions. *International Journal of Behavior, Nutrition & Physical Activity*. 2(2). Retrieved August 24th, 2006 from: PubMed Online Publications.

Brug, J., Connor, M. Harre, N. Kremers, S. McKellar, S. & Whitelaw, S. (2005). The TTM and stages of change: A critique. Observations by five commentators on the paper by Adams, J. and White, M. (2004). Why don't stage-based activity promotion interventions work? *Health Education Research*, 20(2), 244-258.

Buckworth, J. (2000). Exercise determinants and interventions. *International Journal of Sport Psychology*, 31(2), 305-320.

Buckworth, J. (2004). Physical activity, exercise and sedentary behaviour in college students. *Journal of American College Health*, 53(1), 28-34.

Buckworth, J. & Dishman, R. (2002). *Exercise psychology*. Champaign, Illinois: Human Kinetics.

Buckley, C. & Waring, M. (2005). The evolving nature of grounded theory: Experiential reflections on the potential of the method for analysing attitudes towards physical activity. Paper presented at the British Educational Research Association Annual conference. Retrieved August, 17th from: http://www.leeds.ac.uk/educol/documents/143531.htm

Bull, F., Eyler, A., King, A. & Brownson, R. (2001). Stage of readiness to exercise in ethnically diverse women: a US survey. *Medicine and Science in Sports & Exercise*, 33, 1147–1156.

Byrne, M. (2001). Grounded theory as a qualitative research methodology. *AORN Journal*, 73(6), 1155-1157. Retrieved August 29th, 2007 from: http://proquest.umi.com.ezproxy.waikato.ac.nz:2048/pqdweb?index=49&sid=3&srch

Byrne, M. (2001). Interviewing as a data collection method. *AORN Journal*, 74(2), 233-236. Retrieved September 5th, 2007 from: http://proquest.umi.com.ezproxy.waikato.ac.nz:2048/pqdweb?index=49&sid=3&srch

Cardinal, B. J. (1997). Predicting exercise behaviour using components of the transtheoretical model of behaviour change. *Journal of Sport Behavior*, 20 (3). Retrieved August 29th, 2007 from: http://waikato.ac.nz, Academic Search Premier.

Carron, A., Hausenblas, H. & Estabrooks, P. (2003). *The psychology of physical activity*. New York: McGraw-Hill.

Caulley, D.N. (2008). Making qualitative reports less boring: The techniques of writing creative non-fiction. [Electronic version]. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 14, 424–449.

Charmaz, K. (2000). Grounded theory: objectivist and constructivist methods. In Norman K. Denzin & Y. S. Lincoln (Eds.), *Handbook of qualitative research* (pp.509-535). London: Sage.

Charmaz, K. (2006). Constructing grounded theory: A practical guide through qualitative analysis. London: Sage

Chinn, D., White, M. Harland, J., Drinkwater, C. & Raybould, S. (1999). Barriers to physical activity and socio-economic position: implications for health promotion. *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health*, 53(6), 191-192.

Cox, K.L., Gorely, T.J., Puddey, I.B., Burke, V. & Beilin, L.J. (2003). Exercise behaviour change in 40-65 year old women: The SWEAT study (Sedentary Women Exercise Adherence Trial). *British Journal of Health Psychology*, 8, 477-495.

Cooper, A. (2003). Objective measurement of physical activity. In A. Carron, H. Hausenblas & P. Estabrooks (Eds.) *The psychology of physical activity*. New York: McGraw-Hill Inc.

Courneya, K. & McAuley, E. (1995). Cognitive mediators of the social influence – exercise adherence relationship: a test of the theory of planned behaviour. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 18(5), 499-515.

Costain, L. & Croker, H. (2005). Helping individuals to help themselves. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, 64, 89-96. In L. Kravitz, (2005), The growing problem of obesity. [Electronic version]. Retrieved August 19th, 2006 from: http://www.drlenkravitz.com

Craike, M.J. (2004). An exploratory study of social psychological determinants of regular participation in leisure-time physical activity. [Transcript]. Retrieved October 18th, 2006, from: http://www4.gu.edu.au:8080/adt-root/public/adt-QGU20060810.154920/index.html

Cresswell, J.W. (1998). Research design: Qualitative and quantitative approaches. Thousand Oaks, California: Sage.

Cresswell, J. W. (2005). Educational research: Planning, conducting and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research. New Jersey: Merrill.

Crotty, M. (1998). The foundations of social research: Meaning and perspective in the research process. Sydney: Allen & Unwin.

Csikszentmihalyi, M. (1997). Finding flow: The psychological engagement of everyday life. New York: Harper Collins.

Culos-Reed, S.N., Gyure-Sik, N., & Brawley, L. (2003). Using theories of motivated behaviour to understand physical activity. In Carron, Hausenblas & Estabrooks (Eds.). *The Psychology of Physical Activity* (p. 115). New York: McGraw-Hill.

Dalleck, L. C. & Kravitz, L. (2002). The history of fitness. *IDEA Health and Fitness Journal*, 20(2), 26-33.

Davidson, C. & Tolich, M. (2003). *Social Science Research in New Zealand: Many paths to understanding*. Auckland: Pearson Education.

Denison, J. (2003). Introduction: Moving writing. In J. Denison & P. Markula (Eds.), *Moving writing: Crafting movement in sport research* (pp. 1-24). New York: Peter Lang.

Denzin, N.K. & Lincoln, Y. (2003). *Strategies of qualitative inquiry*. Thousand Oaks: Sage.

Dishman, R. (2000). Introduction. *International Journal of Sport Psychology*, 31, 103-109.

Dishman, R. (2001). The problem of exercise adherence: Fighting sloth in nations with market economies. *Quest*, *53*, 279-294.

Dishman, R., Washburn, R. & Heath, G. (2004). *Physical activity epidemiology*. Champaign, Illinois: Human Kinetics.

Dubbert, P. (2002). Physical activity and exercise: Recent advances and current challenges. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 70(3), 526-536.

Elley, R. Kerse, N., Arroll, B. Swinburn, B., Ashton, T. & Robinson, E. (2004). Cost effectiveness of physical activity counseling in general practice. *NZ Medical Journal*, *117*, 1207-1216. Retrieved August 24th, 2006 from: http://nzmj.org.nz/journal/117-1207/1216/

Eyler, A.A., Brownson, R.C., Donatelle, R.J., King, A., Brown, D. & Sallis, J.F. (1999). Physical activity, social support and middle-older-aged minority women: results from a U.S. survey. [Electronic version]. *Social Science & Medicine*, 49(6), 781-789.

Fox, K. & Harris, J. (2003). Promoting physical activity through schools. In J. McKenna & C. Riddoch (Eds). *Perspectives on health and exercise*. Hampshire, UK: Palgrave-McMillan.

Fitness Australia (2007). Business Notes. Retrieved, September 19th, 2008 from: http://www.fitness.org.au/scripts/cgiip.exe/WService=FITNESS/ccms.r?PageId=31

Fitness NZ (2006). *Health club retention research*. (Personal communication, 15th August, 2006).

Fitness NZ (2006). *Information for students on the New Zealand fitness industry*. Retrieved June 17th, 2008, from http://www.fitnessnz.co.nz

Freeman, M., de Marrais, K., Preissle, J. Roulston, K. & St Pierre, E. (2007). Standards of evidence in qualitative research: an incitement to discourse. *Educational Researcher*, 36(1), 25-32.

Fox, K. & Harris, J. (2003). Promoting physical activity through schools. In J. McKenna & C. Riddoch (Eds). *Perspectives on health and exercise*. Hampshire, UK: Palgrave-McMillan.

Frew, M. & McGillivray, D. (2005). Health clubs and body politics: Aesthetics and the quest for physical capital. *Leisure Studies*, 24(2), 161-175.

Gavin, J. (1996). Personal trainers' perceptions of role responsibilities, conflicts and boundaries. *Ethics & Behavior*, 6(1), 55-70.

Glaser, B. & Strauss, A. (1967). *The discovery of grounded theory*. Chicago, Illinois: Aldine.

Gorin, A., Phelan, S., Sherwood, N. Jeffrey, R. & Wing, R. (2005). Involving support partners in obesity treatment. *Journal of Consulting & Clinical Psychology*, 73(2), 341-343.

Goulding, C. (2002). Grounded theory: A practical guide for management, business and market researchers. Thousand Oaks, California: Sage.

Grant, B. (2002). Physical Activity: not a popular leisure choice in later life. *Society and Leisure*. 25(2), 285-302.

Grant, B. (2008). An insider's view on physical activity in later life. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, 9, 817-829.

Grodesky, J., Kosma, M., & Solmon, M. (2006). Understanding older adults physical activity behavior: A multi-theoretical approach. *Quest*, 58, 310-329.

Hancock, P. & Jenkins, C. (2003). The Green Prescription: a field of dreams? NZ Medical Journal, 116, 1187.

Hausenblas, H., Carron, A. & Mack, D. (1997) The theories of reasoned action and planned behaviour: a meta-analysis. In A. Carron et al (Eds.), (2003), pp. 150-158. *The psychology of physical activity*. New York: McGraw-Hill.

Healthy Societies (1998). An Overview. Conference on health and its determinants. *Kansas Health Institute*. Retrieved August 20th, 2006 from: http://ec.europa.eu/research/iscp/10years/healthy-societies/further-information_en.html

Henley, N. & Donovan, R. (2006). Identifying appropriate motivations to encourage people to adopt healthy nutrition and physical activity behaviours. *JR Consumers*, Retrieved May 5th, 2006 from: http://web.biz.uwa.edu.au/research/jrconsumers/printpage/print-ac

Herschberger, P., Edwards, J. & Rudisill, J. (2005). Consultation to help individuals cope with lifestyle modification. *Consulting Psychology Journal: practice and research*. 57(2), 133-141.

Hills, A.P. & Byrne, N.M. (2006). State of the science: a focus on physical activity. *Asia Pacific Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 15, 40-48.

Hodgson, P. (2007, February). *Healthy eating, healthy action newsletter*. Retrieved September 20th, 2008 from: http://www.moh.govt.nz/moh.nsf/indexmh/heha-newsletter-issue2#address

Howell, J. & Ingham, A. (2001). From social problem to personal issue: The language of lifestyle. *Cultural Studies* 15(2), 326 – 351.

- IDEA, (2000). Evaluating Personal Trainer certifications. IDEA Personal Trainer Magazine, 11, 18-23.
- IRHSA, (1999). Fifty million members by 2010: The American fitness industry's plan for growth. Retrieved, August 26th, 2008 from: http://www.irhsa.com
- Janz, N.K., & Becker, M.H. (1984). The health belief model: A decade later. *Health Education Quarterly*, 11, 1-47.
- Jeffrey, R., Wing, R., Thorson, C. & Burton, L. (1998). Use of personal trainers and financial incentives to increase exercise in a behavioural weight-loss program. *Journal of Consulting & Clinical Psychology*, 66(5),777-783.
- Jones, F., Harris, P., Waller, H. & Coggins, A. (2005). Adherence to an exercise prescription scheme: The role of expectations, self-efficacy, stage of change and psychological well-being. *British Journal of Health Psychology*, 10, 359–378.
- Kahn, E., Ramsey, L., Brownson, R., Heath, G., Howze, E., Powell, K., Stone, E., Rajab, M. & Corso, P. (2002). The effectiveness of interventions to increase physical activity: A systematic review. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 22(4), 73-107.
- Kearney, J.M., de Graff, C., Damkjaer, S. & Engstrom, M. (1999). Stages of change towards physical activity in a nationally representative sample in the European Union. *Public Health Nutrition*, 2, 115-124.
- Kerr, J. Eves, F. & Carroll, D. (2003). The Environment: the greatest barrier? In McKenna, J. & Riddoch, C. (Eds.), *Perspectives on health and exercise* (pp. 203-218). Hampshire, UK: Palgrave-McMillan.
- King, A. (1994). Clinical and community interventions to promote and support physical activity participation. In R. Dishman (Ed.), *Advances in Exercise Adherence* (pp. 183-212). Champaign, Illinois: Human Kinetics.
- King, A. (2001). Interventions to promote physical activity by older adults. *The Journals of Gerentology*: Series A (56A).
- King, A., Oman, R., Brassington, G., Bliwise D. & Haskell, W. (1997). Moderate-intensity exercise and self-rated quality of sleep in older adults. A randomized controlled trial. In Weinberg & Gould (Eds.), (2003) *Foundations of sport & exercise psychology*. Champaign, Illinois: Human Kinetics.
- King, A., Marcus, B., Ahn, D., Dunn, A., Rejeski, J., Sallis, J. & Coday, M. (2006). Identifying sub-groups that succeed or fail with three levels of physical activity intervention: the activity counseling trial. *Health Pscyhology*, 25 (3), 336-347.

King, A., Rejeski, J. & Buchner, D. (1998). Physical activity interventions targeting older adults – a critical review and recommendations. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 15(4), 316–333.

Kingi, D., Towers, A., Seebeck, R., & Flett, R. (2005). Pacific women's decisions about exercise adoption: Utilizing the stage-of-exercise adoption model. *NZ Medical Journal*, 118, 1216.

Leith, L. & Taylor, A. (1992). Behavior modification and exercise adherence: Aliterature review. *Journal of Sport Behavior*, 15(1), 60–75.

Little, D. (2002). Women and adventure recreation: Reconstructing leisure constraints and adventure experiences to negotiate continuing participation. *Journal of Leisure Research*, 34(2), 157-177.

Locke, L. (1996). "Dr. Lewin's little liver patties: A parable about encouraging healthy lifestyles" *Quest*, 48:422-431.

Lox, C., Martin, K. & Petruzzello, S. (2003). *The Psychology of Exercise – integrating theory and practice*. Scottsdale, Arizona: Holcomb Hathaway.

Maguire Smith, J. (2008). Fit for consumption. Sociology and the business of fitness. Oxon: Routledge.

Mannell, R.M. & Atkinson, A. (2005). Why don't people do what's good for them? In Jackson, (Ed.), *Constraints to Leisure*. State College, Penn.: Venture Publishing.

Marcus, B. H. (1995). Exercise behavior and strategies for intervention. Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport, 66(4), 319-324.

Marcus, B., Bock, B., Pinto, B., & Clark, M. (1996). Exercise initiation, adoption and maintenance. In Weinberg & Gould (Eds). *Foundations of Sport & Exercise Psychology* (2003). Champaign, Illinois: Human Kinetics.

Marcus, B., Dubbert, P., Forsyth, L., McKenzie, T., Stone, E., Dunn, A. & Blair, S. (2000). Physical activity behaviour change: issues in adoption and maintenance. *Health Psychology*, 19(1) 32-41.

Marcus, B. & Forsyth, L. (2003). *Motivating people to be physically active*. Champaign, Illinois: Human Kinetics.

Marcus, B., Rakowski, W. & Rossi, J. (1992). Assessing motivational readiness and decision-making for exercise. *Health Psychology*, 11(4), 257-261.

Marcus, B., Selby, V., Niaura, R.S. & Rossi, J.S. (1992). Self-efficacy and stages of exercise behaviour change. *Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport*, 63(1), 60-66.

Marcus, B., Rossi, J. S., Selby, V. C., Niaura, R. S. & Abrams, D. B. (1992). The stages and processes of exercise adoption and maintenance in a worksite sample. *Health Psychology*, 11, 386-395.

Markula, P. (1997). Are fit people healthy? Health, exercise, active living and the body in fitness discourse. *Waikato Journal of Education*, 3, 21-39.

McAuley, E. & Blissmer, B. (2000). Self-efficacy determinants and consequences of physical activity. *Exercise & Sport Science Reviews*, 28, 85-88.

McAuley, E., Jerome, G., Marquez, D., Elavsky, S. & Blissmer, B. (2003). Exercise self-efficacy in older adults: Social, affective and behavioural influences. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 25(1),1-7.

McClaran, S.R. (2003). The effectiveness of personal training on changing attitudes towards physical activity. *Journal of Sports Science and Medicine*, 2(1),10-14.

McDonald, D., Kirk, D., Metzler, M., Nilges, L., Schempp, P. & Wright, J. (2002). It's all very well, in theory: theoretical perspectives and their applications in contemporary pedagogical research. *Quest*, 54:133-156.

McDougall, C. Cooke, R., Owen, N. & Bauman, A. (1997). Relating physical activity to health status, social connections and community facilities. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health*, 21, 631-637.

McElroy, M. (2002). Resistance to exercise: A social analysis of inactivity. Champaign, Illinois: Human Kinetics.

McKay, H., MacDonald, K., Reed, K., & Khan, K. (2003). Exercise interventions for health: Time to focus on dimensions, delivery and dollars. *British Journal of Sport's Medicine*, *37*, 98-99.

McKenna, J. & Riddoch, C. (2003). *Perspectives on health and exercise*. Hampshire: Palgrave McMillan.

McLean, G. & Teague, M. (2004). Obstacles to action: A study of New Zealander's physical activity and nutrition. Paper presented at the *Social Policy and Research Evaluation Conference*, Wellington, NZ, 25th November. Retrieved August 18th, 2006 from: http://www.sparc.org.nz

Miller, T. (2006). Why people don't and do join health clubs. Retrieved September 5th, 2006 from: http://cms.ihrsa.org/IHRSA/viewPage.cfm?pageId=2953

National Health Committee, (2000). Active for life: A call for action. Retrieved August 24th, 2006 from www.moh.govt.nz

Moe, E., Elliot, D., Goldberg, L., Kuehl, K., Stevens, V., Breger, R., DeFrancesco, C., Ernst D., Duncan, T., Dulacki, S. & Dolen, S. (2002). Promoting Healthy Lifestyles: Alternative Models' Effects (PHLAME). Health Education Research, 17(5), 586-596.

Mutrie, N. & Woods, C. (2003). How can we get people to become more active? A problem waiting to be solved. In J. McKenna & C. Riddoch (Eds.), *Perspectives on health and exercise*. (pp. 131-148). Hampshire, UK: Palgrave McMillan.

National Health Committee (1998). *The social, cultural and economic determinants of health in New Zealand: Action to improve health.* National Advisory Committee on Health and Disability: Wellington, NZ

Niaura, R.S. & Abrams, D.B. (2004). Smoking cessation: progress, priorities and prospectus. In Smith, et al (Eds.), Prevention and health promotion: decades of progress, new challenges, and an emerging agenda. *Health Psychology*, 23(2), 126–131.

Oman, R. & King, A., (2000). The effect of life events and exercise program format on the adoption and maintenance of exercise behaviour. *Health Psychology*, 19(6), 605-612.

Orleans, C. T. (2000). Promoting the maintenance of health behavior change: Recommendations for the next generation of research and practice. *Health Psychology*, 19(1), 76–83.

Ory, M., Jordan, P. & Bazzarre, T. (2002). The behaviour change consortium: Setting the stage for a new century of health behaviour-change research. *Health Education Research*, 17(5), 500-511.

Overdorf, V. (2005). Images and influences in the promotion of physical activity. *Quest*, 57, 243–254.

O'Brien Cousins, S. (2001). Grounding theory in self-referent thinking: conceptualizing motivating for older adult physical activity. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*. Retrieved July 24th 2008 from: www.elselvier.com/locate/psychsport http://www.qual.auckland.ac.nz

O'Neal, H. & Blair, S. (2001). Enhancing adherence in clinical exercise trials. *Quest*, 53, 310-317.

Patton, M.Q. (2002). *Qualitative research and evaluation methods*. Thousand Oaks, California: Sage.

Petosa, R.L.; Suminski, R. & Hortz, B. (2003). Predicting vigorous physical activity using social cognitive theory. *American Journal of Health Behavior*, 27(4), 301-310.

Potvin, L., Gauvin, L. & Nguyen, N. (1997). Prevalence of stages of change for physical activity in rural, suburban and inner-city communities. *Journal of Community Health*, 22, 1-13.

Pringle, R. (2008). Health and physical activity promotion: A qualitative examination of the effect of receiving a Green Prescription. Unpublished report, The University of Waikato, Hamilton, NZ.

Prochaska, J. & Di Clemente, C. (1982). Trans-theoretical therapy: Toward a more integrative model of change. *Psychotherapy: Theory, Research & Practice*, 20, 161-173.

Prochaska J. O., Diclemente C.C. & Norcross J.C. (1992). In search of how people change. *American Psychologist*, 47,1102-1114.

Prochaska, J.O., Redding, C. & Evers, K. (2002). The trans-theoretical model and stages of change. In K. Glantz, F.M. Lewis, & B. Rimer, (Eds.), *Health Behavior and Health Education: Theory, Research, and Practice*. 3rd Ed. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

Raglin, J. & Wallace, J. (2005). Twelve month adherence of adults who joined a fitness program with a spouse vs without a spouse. *Women & Health*, 41,4.

Redding, J.L. (1995). *A descriptive study of personal trainers*. [Abstract]. Retrieved January, 2007 from http://kinpubs.uorego.edu/

Redding, C., Rossi, J., Rossi, S., Velicer, W. & Prochaska, J. (2000). Health behaviour models. *The International Electronic Journal of Health Education*, *3*, 180-193. Retrieved September 10th, 2006 from: http://www.iejhe.siu.edu

Reimsma, R., Pattenden, J. Bridle, C., Sowden, A., Mather, L., Watt, I. & Walker, A. (2002). A systematic review of the effectiveness of interventions based on stages of change approach to promote individual behaviour change. *Health Technology Assessment*, 6, 24.

Riley, T., & Hawe, P. (2005). Researching practice: The methodological case for narrative inquiry. *Health Education Research*, 20, 226-236.

(REPS) Register of Exercise Professionals (2008). Retrieved January 21, 2008, from http://www.reps.org.nz

Rhodes, R. & Plotnikoff, R. (2006). Understanding action control: Predicting physical activity intention: Behavior profiles across 6 months in a Canadian sample. *Health Psychology*, 25(3), 292–299.

Roberts, G. (2001). Advances in motivation in sport and exercise. Champaign, Illinois: Human Kinetics.

Rodgers, W., Hall, C., Blanchard, C., McAuley, E. & Munroe, K. (2002). Task and scheduling self-efficacy as predictors of exercise behaviour. *Psychology & Health*, *17* (4), 405-416.

Rollnick, S. & Miller, W.R. (1995). What is motivational interviewing? *Behavioural and Cognitive Psychotherapy*, 23, 325-334.

Rose, E. (2007, June 3). Moves to work out decline in gym bunnies. *Sunday Star Times*, p. A8.

Sallis, J.F. (2000). Age-related decline in physical activity. In A. Bauman et al (Eds.), (2002). Getting Australia Active – towards better practice for the promotion of physical activity. Melbourne, Australia: National Health Partnership.

Sallis, J.F. & Hovell, M. (1990). Determinants of exercise behaviour. *Exercise & Sport Sciences Review*, 11, 307-330.

Sallis, J., Krafat, D., & Linton, S. (2002). How the environment shapes physical activity. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 23(3), 208-210.

Sallis, J.F. & Owen, N. (1999). *Physical activity & behavioural medicine*. Thousand Oaks: Sage

Satariano, W., Haight, T., & Tager, I. (2000). Reasons given by older people for limitation or avoidance of leisure time physical activity. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 48, 505-512.

Schram, T.H. (2006). *Conceptualizing and proposing qualitative research*. Ohio:Merrill Prentice Hall.

Schofield, G. (2003). *Push Play: what's under the umbrella?* The NZ Medical Journal *116*, 1179. Retrieved August 20th, 2006 from: http://www.nzma.org.nz/journal/116-1179/534/

Schofield, G., McLean, G., & Croteau, K. (2006). Physical activity advice and green prescription in a primary care setting. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health*, 30(3), 262-267.

Schwarzer, R. (2001). Health: self-regulation. *International Encyclopedia of the Social & Behavioral Sciences*. Retrieved August 14th, 2007, from: Elselvier database, http://www.waikato.ac.nz

Sherwood, N. & Jeffrey, R. (2000). The behavioural determinants of exercise: implications for physical activity interventions. *Annual Review of Nutrition* 20, 21-44.

Smith, A. & Bird, S. (2004). From evidence to policy: Reflections on emerging themes in health-enhancing physical activity. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 22(8), 791-799. Retrieved September 20th, 2006 from: http://taylorandfrancis.metapress.com

Smith, J. (1983). Quantitative verses interpretive: The problem of conducting social inquiry. In E. House (Ed.), *Philosophy of evaluation* (pp. 27-51). London: Jossey-Bass Inc.

Smith Maguire, J. (2008a). Fit for consumption: Sociology and the business of fitness. London: Routledge.

Smith Maguire, J. (2008b). The personal is professional: Personal trainers as a case study of cultural intermediaries. [Electronic version]. *International Journal of Cultural Studies*, 11(211). Retrieved August 14th, 2008 from: http://ics.sagepub.com

Smith, T., Orleans, T. & Jenkins, C.D. (2004). Prevention and health promotion: decades of progress, new challenges, and an emerging agenda. *Health Psychology*. 23(2), 126–131.

SPARC, (2004). *Best practice in active workplaces*. Retrieved May 15th, 2005 from: http://www.sparc.org.nz/whatwedo/active-work/Best-Practice.php#imple-eval.php

SPARC, (2003). *Towards an active NZ: National policy framework*. Retrieved August 18th, 2006 from: http://www.sparc.org.nz/filedownload?id=f940355e-a231-4f7e-901b-07696165f8bf

Sparkes, A.C. (2002). *Telling tales in sport and physical activity: A qualitative journey*. Champaign, Illinois: Human Kinetics.

Sparkes, A. C. (1992). The paradigms debate: An extended review and a celebration of difference. In A. C. Sparkes (Ed.), *Research in physical education and sport: Exploring alternative visions* (pp. 9-60). London: Falmer.

Sparling, P., Owen, N., Lambert, E. & Haskell, W. (2000). Promoting physical activity: the new imperative for public health. *Health Education Research*, 15(3), 367-376.

Stokols, D. (2003). Establishing and maintaining healthy environments: toward a social ecology of health promotion. In J. McKenna & C. Riddoch (Eds.), *Perspectives on health and exercise* (p. 206). Hampshire, UK: Palgrave McMillan.

Strauss, A. & Corbin, J. (1990). *Basics of qualitative research: Grounded theory, procedures and techniques*. Newbury Park, California: Sage.

Strauss, A. & Corbin, J. (1998). *Basics of qualitative research*. Thousand Oaks, California: Sage.

Sullivan, C., Oakden, J., Young, J., Butcher, H. & Lawson, R. (2003). *Obstacles to action: A study of New Zealanders' physical activity and nutrition*. Sport and Recreation New Zealand: Wellington.

Taylor, M. S. (2008, July 4). *What is Life Coaching?* Retrieved July 13th 2008, from: http://ezinearticles.com/?What-is-Life-Coaching?&id=1300183

Te Akau-Riddell, T. & North, D. (2003). Socio-economic and ethnic inequalities in CVD. *New Zealand Heart Foundation Technical Report No.* 80. Retrieved July 19th, 2006 from: http://www.nhf.org.nz/files/Research/tech_Report80.pdf

Thurston, M. & Green, K. (2004). Adherence to exercise in later life: how can exercise on prescription programmes be made more effective? *Health Promotion International*, 19(3), 379-387.

Trost, S., Kerr, L., Ward, D. & Pate, R. (2001). Physical activity and determinants of physical activity in obese and non-obese children. *International Journal of Obesity*. 25, 822-829.

United States Center for Disease Control and Prevention, (2001). *Increasing physical activity: a report on recommendations of the task force on community preventive services*. 50, (18),1-16. Washington DC: USCDC Publication, Public Health Service.

Van Aalst, I., & Daly, C. (2004). Green Prescriptions in general practice. Wellington: Sport and Recreation New Zealand.

Van Aalst, I., & Daly, C. (2006). 2006 survey of Green Prescription patients. Wellington: Sport and Recreation New Zealand.

Velicer, W., Prochaska, J., Fava, J., Norman, G. & Redding, C. (1998). Smoking cessation and stress management: Applications of the trans-theoretical model of behaviour change. *Homeostasis*, 38, 216-233.

Viru, A. & Harro, M. (2003). Biological aspects of physical activity and health. In J. McKenna & C. Riddoch (Eds.), *Perspectives on health and exercise*, (pp. 229-255). Hampshire, UK: Palgrave McMillan.

Wadden, T.A., Brownell, K.D., & Foster, G.D. (2002). Obesity: responding to the global epidemic. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*. 70, 510-525.

Wallace, L., Buckworth, J. Kirby, T. & Sherman, M. (2000). Characteristics of exercise behaviour among college students: Application of social cognitive theory to predicting stage of change. *Preventive Medicine*, *31*, 494-505.

Weber, H. (2001). A perspective on exercise prescription. [Electronic version]. *Journal of Exercise Physiology*, 4(2), 1-5. Retrieved September 20th 2008 from: http://faculty.css.edu/tboone2/asep/Weber.pdf

Weed, M. (2005). "Meta-interpretation": A method for the interpretive synthesis of qualitative research. [Electronic version]. *Forum Qualitative Research*, *6*(1), 37. Retrieved September 20, 2007 from: http://www.qualitative-research.net/fqs-texte/1-05/05-1-37-e.htm

Weinberg, R.S. & Gould, D. (2003). Foundations of sport & exercise psychology. Champaign, Illinois: Human Kinetics.

Whitehead, M. (1997). How useful is the stages of change model? *Health Education Model*, 56, 111-112.

Whitfield, K., Weidner, G., Clark, R. & Anderson, N. (2002). Sociodemographic diversity and behavioural medicine. *Journal of Consulting & Clinical Psychology*, 70, 463-481.

Whitlock, E., Orleans, C., Pender, N. & Allan, J. (2002). Evaluating primary care behavioural counseling interventions: An evidence-based approach. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 22, 267-284.

Whipple, K., Fetro, J., Welshimer, K. & Drolet, J. (2006). Maintaining physical activity: Lessons for educators. *American Journal of Health Studies*, 21(3), 174-181.

Willig, C., (2001). *Introducing qualitative research in psychology*. Philadelphia: Open University Press.

Willig, C. & Stainton-Rogers, W. (2008). SAGE handbook of qualitative research in psychology. London:Sage.

Wing, R.R. & Hill, J.O. (2001). Successful weight loss maintenance. *Annual Review in Nutrition*, 21, 323-341.

Wing R.R. & Jakocic J. (2000). Changing lifestyle: Moving from sedentary to active. In Bouchard (Ed.), *Physical Activity and Obesity*. Champaign, Illinois: Human Kinetics.

Wing, R.R. & Jeffrey, R. (1999). Benefits of recruiting participants with friends and increasing social support for weight loss and maintenance. *Journal of Consulting & Clinical Psychology*, 67(1),132–138.

Wolcott, H. (1990). Ethnographic research in education. In R. Jaeger (Ed.), *Complementary methods for research in education* (pp. 187-206). London: Falmer Press.

(WHO) World Health Organisation (2001). *Health and ageing: A discussion paper*. World Health Organisation, Geneva.

(WHO) World Health Organisation (2001). *Global initiative on active living/ physical activity for health*. Retrieved, August 26th, 2006 from: http://www.who.int/hpr/archive/active/objectives.html

(WHO) World Health Organisation (2005). *Fact sheet on obesity*. Retrieved, May 25th 2006 from: www.who.int/hpr/NPH/docs/gs_obesity.pdf

Appendix A: Ethics Approval

THE UNIVERSITY OF WAIKATO SCHOOL OF EDUCATION ETHICS COMMITTEE

APPLICATION FOR ETHICAL APPROVAL OF SUPERVISED GRADUATE/ POSTGRADUATE RESEARCH PROJECT

Name of applicant: Wendy Sweet

Contact address: 1956 River Rd., R.D. 1, Hamilton

Contact phone number: 07.829.4774/021.316.817

Degree: Masters SPLS (MSpLS)

Principle Supervisor: Professor Bevan Grant

Department: Sport and Leisure Studies

Paper Code: SPLS 504

Title of Project: Personal Trainers: Motivating and moderating client

exercise behaviour.

Interest in topic:

I am involved in the New Zealand fitness industry in a number of capacities and have a particular interest in Personal Trainers. The numbers of Personal Trainers in New Zealand continues to increase (REPS, 2007). This suggests it is a sought-after profession and one recognized as having an important role to play in promoting good health through the adoption of a physically active lifestyle. However, with more people entering the profession there is a need for quality on-going education of Personal Trainers. But what should be the basis for this education? Currently there is plenty of anecdotal evidence about 'how to be' an effective Personal Trainer but no published research on the beliefs, knowledge and role of those working on the 'front line' of health promotion via exercise prescription. How do Personal Trainers go about their business of intervening in the exercise behaviour of their clients? In this study I will be exploring the world of Personal Training from those 'in the know' with an aim to better understand how they go about intervening, motivating and moderating change in the exercise behaviour of their clients.

Details of the Project

a) Objectives

Drawing on the interpretive paradigm, the primary objective of this study is to access an 'insiders view' of the practice of Personal Training, and explore how Personal Trainers believe they moderate and influence exercise behaviour of their clients. This will be addressed through the following three broad questions:

What are the day-to-day realities of being a personal Trainer?

What strategies and knowledge do Personal Trainer's draw on to support their clients adhering to a more stringent exercise routine?

How effective do they believe they are at assisting clients in modifying their lifestyle to adopt (long-term) a physically active lifestyle?

Although holding varying points-of-view about what Personal Trainers do and do not do, in this thesis I endeavour to put my personal viewpoints aside as best as possible and access an 'insiders' view of the practice of personal training.

b) Justification

With physical inactivity frequently referred to as a risk factor (WHO, 2001) and a concern about an increase in sedentary lifestyles (USCDC, 2001; SPARC, 2003), the intention to exercise and subsequent adherence is increasingly in the limelight. Although a number of determinants associated with exercise uptake and adherence have been identified (Annesi, 2004; Buckworth & Dishman, 2002; Dishman, 1994; Eyler, Brownson et al, 1999; Kahn, Ramsey et al, 2002), the tale with regards to what entices or deters people to adhere to exercise habits is far from complete. To date there has been no adherence research that considers the role of Personal Trainers as a form of intervention. This is surprising given they are considered agents of change and have become primary vehicles of client support, motivation and adherence, (Buckworth & Dishman, 2002; Marcus & Forsyth, 2003; Orleans, 2000; Raglin & Wallace, 2005; Wing & Jakocic, 2000; Wing & Jeffrey, 1999). Hence, it is worth knowing more about the way they 'apply their trade'.

Current data from Fitness NZ (2007) indicates that around 500,000 New Zealanders belong to over four hundred health club/fitness centre type organizations. Personal training is increasingly used as a 'retention tool' by over half of these fitness centres, (Fitness NZ, 2007). Consequently, paying for the 'expertise' and guidance of a Personal Trainer for a prescribed but personalised programme of exercise (and other lifestyle factors such as diet) has become a burgeoning variation within the industry. As the revised guidelines on physical activity and public health (American Heart Association, 2007) recommend, health professionals must use effective behavioural management and environmental change strategies to contribute to client adherence to exercise. It appears timely therefore, to examine the views and experiences of Personal Trainers and align these with current theories, concepts, ideas and controversies in exercise prescription and adherence.

In order to meet the research objective, I am aligning myself within the interpretive paradigm, and more specifically grounded theory. A paradigm according to Sparkes (1992) is a 'world view'. It is a person's general framework encompassing an umbrella of philosophical beliefs and assumptions that guide ones actions and thoughts. Recognising that the interpretive paradigm gives a particular insight into the nature of knowledge in the area being studied, I resonate with the close contact the researcher has with research participants (Freeman et al, 2007). Interpretivists consider truth to be a subjective concept created by each individual (Smith, 1983). The meanings derived from knowing what people think they are doing could be more important than knowing what they actually are doing (Charmaz, 2003). This means what exists in the social world is what people think exists – and in this case Personal Trainers. This perspective was endorsed by Wolcott

(1990) when stating, "I do not go about trying to discover a ready-made world; rather I seek to understand a social world we are continuously in the process of constructing" (p. 147).

c) Procedure for recruiting participants and obtaining informed consent

The participants will be Personal Trainers currently working in health clubs/ fitness centres within the Waikato and Auckland regions. Living within this vicinity allows me (the researcher), to travel more easily to meet with the participants. The participants' will all have had three or more years of working in the industry. They must be registered Trainers with REPS (Registration of Exercise Professionals) and meet the requirements for certification as a Level 1 Personal Trainer. This certification requires Personal Trainers to have a number of clients, business strategies in place and a minimum of one hundred hours working in the fitness industry as a Personal Trainer (REPS, 2007).

Although there is no set number of participants required for a qualitative enquiry, the purpose of grounded theory is to generate enough in-depth data so that patterns, concepts, categories, properties and dimensions of the phenomena being studied are illuminated (Auerbach & Silverstein, 2003; Glaser & Strauss, 1967). The object is to eventually achieve 'theoretical saturation', which occurs when the relationships among categories are well established and validated (Charmaz, 2003; Strauss & Corbin, 1998).

For this study, a purposive sample of 16 (8 women and 8 men) Personal Trainers will be identified from the REPS register and invited to participate in the study, initially by a telephone call and then formally by a letter (see Appendix A). This letter explains the research intent as well as giving an outline of the research process. Should any Personal Trainer not wish to participate in the study then I will invite others until 16 participants have accepted the invitation.

Each participant will be required to sign a letter of consent prior to the first interview (see Appendix B).

d) Procedures in which research participants will be involved

The participants will be involved in a minimum of two semi-structured interviews each being approximately an hour in duration. This process serves two main purposes. The initial interview establishes rapport and allows the study participant to express their views and experiences as prompted by the researcher. A second interview acknowledges that the participant's perceptions of events may have changed (temporal knowledge), (Byrne, 2001). As well, it allows the researcher to explore areas of interest that may require more in-depth discussion of events, thoughts and experiences (Byrne, 2001).

The format for each interview will follow a semi-structured approach with lead-in questions (see Appendix C) used to initiate and extend the dialogue. The questions serve as a guide towards exploring specific areas related to the topic and allow each Personal Trainer to tell about their experiences to in a non-judgmental, spontaneous and informal way. In the second interview, participants will also be invited to reflect on the previous interview and confirm, clarify or add to the original information. The participants will be

invited to engage in a third interview if further clarification of any previous information is required or the researcher considers the participant has more information to share.

e) Procedures for handling information and materials produced in the course of the research

Each interview will be conducted at a time and place that is most convenient to the participant and in a setting that ensures as little interruption as possible from external surroundings (e.g. phones, other people). All interviews will be audio-recorded and transcribed verbatim by the researcher and analysed by the researcher. The audiotapes and transcribed data generated as a result of this study will be stored securely in a locked filing cabinet at the researcher's home and archived in accordance with university policy.

A copy of the transcription will be returned to the participant for checking and approving. Once the final transcript is returned to the researcher, it will provide the basis for analysis in accordance with processes inherent to grounded theory methodology.

2. Ethical Issues

Interpretive researchers acknowledge it is impossible to remain neutral and be totally objective in doing research (Davidson & Tolich, 2003; Denzin & Lincoln, 2003; Schram, 2003). Two of the many reasons for this are; the researcher typically has an invested interest in the area of investigation and the considerable interaction between the research and those individuals involved in the study. In my situation it will be difficult to remain totally impartial and objective because I have spent many years working with Personal Trainers. Hence, it is important at the outset to acknowledge that as the researcher, I am the research instrument, conducting and analyzing the data and therefore, must take final responsibility for preparing the final report. However, I am conscious that it is my responsibility to ensure the representations in the text are consistent with the real Charmaz (2003).

Personal Training as a vocation is an emotional job and discussion involving Trainer's ideas, feelings, experiences and values will undoubtedly emerge before, during or after the interviews. As someone who has been (and still is) immersed in the fitness industry, I am conscious that there may be some disclosure about aspects of their professional work and/or issues related to their work place. As a researcher I need to be aware that any unforeseen disclosures will not be a part of the research, therefore, I have options to discontinue the interview and taping or allow the participant some time to re-orientate themselves back to the interview and phenomenon under discussion.

a) Access to participants

From the publicly available national Register of Exercise Professionals web-site (www.reps.org.nz), I will use purposive sampling to select the study participants. All participants will be working in the Waikato and Auckland regions. Once the participants have been identified from the web-site, I will follow the process to access them in person seeking their willingness to participate in this study, as outlined on page 3, 1 (c).

b) Informed Consent

Personal Trainers who volunteer to participate in the study will have the project explained to them in full, both verbally and in writing (via email). If they are still willing to participate, they will be asked to sign the Consent Form (attached) prior to the first interview.

c) Confidentiality

Participant confidentiality is vital and each participant will be made aware of the attention that will be taken to ensure that confidentiality is respected and adhered to. Transcripts will be coded so the participant cannot be identified. Where any verbatim quotes are used in the writing up process, a pseudonym will be used. Every effort will be made to ensure that the Personal Trainers involved in the study are not identifiable in the final thesis and in any subsequent publications and/or presentations related to the study.

d) Potential harm to participants

As the interview is about 'the self', the participant may feel uncomfortable or 'at risk' disclosing information that could be deemed quite personal by them. Therefore, as the interviewer, I must ensure that they feel as comfortable as possible during the interviews and are comfortable when sharing with me about their experiences. As well as being sensitive to their body language, facial expressions, tone of voice and manner, I need to look for signs of discomfort or potential stress and respond to them professionally.

Participants will be invited to read their transcripts to verify authenticity and accuracy of the researcher's transcription and interpretation and if necessary request changes be made.

e) Participants' right to decline

Personal Trainers will be invited but not coerced into becoming involved in this research project. Each participant will be made fully aware of their rights to withdraw from participating in the project prior to any interviews. If a participant chooses to withdraw from the study up until the end of April, 2008, their interview data will not be used in the data analysis unless they have given written permission. As well, they will be informed that they do not have to answer all questions and can request that any comments be excluded from the analysis and/or the written report.

f) Arrangements for participants to receive information

As described above, all study participants will be invited to read the transcribed interviews as well as the written reports to confirm, reject or amend my interpretation of the information. Each participant will also be able to contact me about any aspect of the research during the study.

g) Use of the information

The primary use of this research is for completion of my Masters thesis, however, excerpts and summaries from the final report may be used in fitness industry conferences and seminars, fitness industry magazines and academic articles. This is outlined in the consent form. If the material goes into a more public domain, the anonymity of all research participants will be ensured.

h) Conflicts of interest

There are no apparent conflicts of interest.

i) Other ethical concerns relevant to the research

None that I am aware of.

3. <u>Legal is</u>sues

a) Copyright

The ownership of this research document will include all parties as per the University of Waikato guidelines. This includes the participants, myself, my supervisor as well as the University of Waikato. All of these parties will be acknowledged accordingly.

b) Ownership of data or materials produced

As per the University of Waikato guidelines, the study participants' will own the raw data and as the researcher, I will own the interpretation and findings.

c) Any other legal issue relevant to the research

None known.

4. Research Timetable

a) Proposed date of commencement of data collection

January/ February 2008

b) Expected date of completion of data collection

May, 2008

I agree	
a)	to ensure that the above-mentioned procedures concerning the ethical conduct of this project will be followed by all those involved in the collection and handling of data;
b)	to submit for approval any amendments made to the research procedures outlined in this application which affect the ethical appraisal of the project.
	Signature of applicant: Date:
a)	that this application has been developed with my supervision and has my support
b)	I agree to support the student to follow the above mentioned procedures concerning the ethical conduct of this project
	Signature of supervisor:

References:

(AHA) American Heart Association (2007). Physical activity and public health. Updated recommendations for adults from the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Heart Association. *Circulation*. *1-13* Downloaded August, 6th, 2007 from: http://circ.ahajournals.org

Annesi, J. (2004). Relationship of social cognitive theory factors to exercise maintenance in adults. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, *99*, 142-148. Retrieved October, 2007 from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=pubmed&dopt=Abstract&list_uids=15587206&query_hl=1

Auerbach, C.F. & Silverstein, L.B. (2003). *Qualitative data: an introduction to coding and analysis*. NY: New York University Press.

Buckworth, J. & Dishman, R.(2002). *Exercise psychology*. Champaign, Illinois: Human Kinetics.

Byrne, M. (2001). Interviewing as a data collection method. *AORN Journal*, Vol 74: 2, pp. 233-236. Retrieved September, 2007 from: http://proquest.umi.com.ezproxy.waikato.ac.nz:2048/pqdweb?index=49&sid=3&srch

Byrne, M. (2001). Grounded theory as a qualitative research methodology. *AORN Journal*, vol. 73: 6, pp.1155-1157. Retrieved September, 2007 from:

http://proquest.umi.com.ezproxy.waikato.ac.nz:2048/pqdweb?index=49&sid=3&srch

Charmaz, K. (2003). Grounded Theory: objectivist and constructivist methods. In N. Denzin & Y. Lincoln (Eds.), *Strategies of qualitative inquiry* (pp. 249 – 291). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

Davidson, C. & Tolich, M. (2003). *Social Science Research in New Zealand: many paths to understanding*. Auckland: Pearson Education.

Denzin, N.K. & Lincoln, Y.S. (2003). *Strategies of qualitative inquiry*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications

Dishman, R. (1994). Advances in exercise adherence. Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics.

Eyler, A., Brownson, R., Donatelle, R., King, A., Brown, D. & Sallis, J. (1999) Physical activity, social support and middle- and older-aged minority women: results from a US survey. *Social Science & Medicine*, Vol 49: 6, pp. 781-789.

Fitness New Zealand (2007). Data retrieved August, 2007 from: www.fitnessnz.co.nz

Freeman, M., deMarrais, K., Preissle, J. Roulston, K. & St Pierre, E. (2007). Standards of evidence in qualitative research: an incitement to discourse. *Educational Researcher*, Vol. 36: 1, pp. 25-32.

Glaser, B.G. & Strauss, A. (1967). *The discovery of grounded theory: strategies for qualitative research*. Chicago, Ill: Aldine Pub. Co.

Kahn, E., Ramsey, L., Brownson, R., Heath, G., Howze, E., Powell, K., Stone, E., Rajab, M. & Corso, P. (2002). The effectiveness of interventions to increase physical activity: a systematic review. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* 22 (4), 73-107.

Locke, L. (1996) "Dr. Lewin's little liver patties: A parable about encouraging healthy lifestyles" *Quest*, 48:422-431.

Locke, L., Silverman, S. & Spirduso, W. (1998). *Reading and understanding research*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Pub.

Marcus, B. & Forsyth, L. (2003). *Motivating people to be physically active*. Champaign, Illinois: Human Kinetics.

Orleans, C. T. (2000). Promoting the maintenance of health behavior change: recommendations for the next generation of research and practice. *Health Psychology*, 19(1), 76–83.

Raglin, J. & Wallace, J. (2005). Twelve month adherence of adults who joined a fitness program with a spouse vs without a spouse. In J. White & J. Flohr (Eds.). Factors related to physical activity adherence in women: review and suggestions for future research. *Women & Health* 41(4).

REPS (2007). Registration of Exercise Professionals. Registration forms downloaded from: www.reps.org.nz

Schram, T. H. (2003). *Conceptualizing and proposing qualitative research*. New Jersey: Pearson Education.

SPARC, (2003). *Towards an active NZ: National policy framework*. Retrieved August, 2006 from: http://www.sparc.org.nz/filedownload?id=f940355e-a231-4f7e-901b-07696165f8bf

Smith, J. (1983). Quantitative verses interpretive: The problem of conducting social inquiry. In E. House (Ed.), *Philosophy of evaluation* (pp. 27-51). London: Jossey-Bass Inc.

Sparkes, A. C. (1992). The paradigms debate: An extended review and a celebration of difference. In A. C. Sparkes (Ed.), *Research in physical education and sport: Exploring alternative visions* (pp. 9-60). London: Falmer Press.

Strauss, A. & Corbin, J., (1998). *Basics of Qualitative Research: techniques and procedures for developing grounded theory*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

(USCDC) United States Center for Disease Control and Prevention, (2001). *Increasing physical activity: a report on recommendations of the task force on community preventive services.* 50, (18),1-16. Washington DC: USCDC Publication, Public Health Service.

Willig, C., (2001). *Introducing qualitative research in psychology*. Philadelphia: Open University Press.

Wing R. & Jakocic J. (2000). Changing Lifestyle: Moving from Sedentary to Active. In Bouchard (Ed.). *Physical Activity and Obesity*. Champaign, Illinois: Human Kinetics.

Wing, R. & Jeffrey, R. (1999). Benefits of recruiting participants with friends and increasing social support for weight loss and maintenance. *Journal of Consulting & Clinical Psychology*, 67(1),132 – 138.

Wolcott, H. (1990). Ethnographic research in education. In R. Jaeger (Ed.), *Complementary methods for research in education* (pp. 187-206). London: Falmer Press.

(WHO) World Health Organisation (2001). *Health and ageing: A discussion paper*. World Health Organisation, Geneva.

Appendix B: Letter to Participants

1956 River Rd

R.D. 1

Hamilton

January 5th, 2008

Dear

I am writing to seek your interest in being a participant in a research study during the first few months in 2008. Professor Bevan Grant from the Department of Sport & Leisure Studies at the University of Waikato is my supervisor and will be overseeing the research project.

Currently there is no research with regards to the work of Personal Trainers, nor how they endeavour to impact on client behaviour. This has motivated me to undertake research on this topic for my Masters thesis at the University of Waikato. My study aims to explore and analyse experiences of Personal Trainer's as they support clients to adopt an active lifestyle. With this aim, the research process will involve me interviewing 16 experienced Personal Trainers in the Waikato/ Auckland regions. In order to help you decide whether or not you wish to be involved in the study here is a brief summary of the research process.

- ♣ At all times your involvement will remain confidential and you will not be named in any data analysis or any publication that may result from the research.
- ♣ You are required to sign a consent form before commencing the research process.
 This form outlines the ethical considerations and your rights as a participant.

107

- ♣ Participate in a minimum of two audio-taped interviews to be held at a place and time that is convenient to you. Each interview will last approximately one hour.
- ♣ During the interviews you will be asked questions about such things as why you chose Personal Training as a career; a description of your 'typical' day with clients; your views on the contribution of exercise to one's health and well-being; the challenges you experience when trying to help someone change their lifestyle; how you keep up-to-date with current practices and the strategies you use when assisting people to modify their lifestyle.
- Following each interview I will transcribe these and email you a copy to read, adapt and/or remove any parts that you believe warrant changing or deleting.
- ♣ At the completion of the analysis and subsequent write up of results I will send you a copy of the research findings for your comments on accuracy of interpretation.

I will phone or email you within the week to answer any queries that you may have as well as seek your involvement in the study. Should you accept, I'm sure that you will find it stimulating to talk about your role as a Personal Trainer. As well, I hope that what you share may have some influence on future practices in this profession. If you agree to participate we will discuss a possible date, time and place for the first interview.

Many thanks for considering being a part of my research on Personal Trainers.

Yours sincerely,

Appendix C: Interview Guide

Interview Guideline

Personal Trainers: Motivating and Moderating Client Exercise Behaviour

The interviews will be semi-structured and the following questions and related points provide a guide/prompt for the researcher to ensure key points about that being studied are not over-looked (Willig, 2001).

What attracted you to the Personal Training profession?

- Fashionable for people who like fitness
- Recognized and credible profession
- Ideas formed during tertiary study
- Opportunity to have own business
- Influenced through facility

How would you describe the role of a Personal Trainer?

- Ideal (yours) vs actual (facility) expectations
- Health promotion role vs exercise prescriptor role
- Met your original expectations (experiences and identity)
- Contrast with images clients/public may have of role
- Importance and perception of role to the health/fitness industry
- Differences in your role over time influences on this?
- Qualities of a 'good' Personal Trainer

Why do you think people seek out the assistance of a Personal Trainer?

- Influences on their decision (personal goals vs facility sales strategies)
- Differences in expectations between trainer and client

- Sense of security by seeking advice from an 'expert'

What is a Personal Trainer's working schedule like?

- Typical day as a trainer
- Influences contributing to how you structure your day
- Differences between fitness instructors and trainers
- Screening possible clients

How does a Personal Trainer work with her/his clients in the first instance?

- 'Prescription' & instructional strategies vs motivational strategies
- Differences in strategies used between new and returning clients
- Changes in your strategies and knowledge over time –
 what have you learnt?
- Perception of the influence you have on your client's health or exercise decisions.

How do you know you've been effective in helping someone change their behaviour?

- Markers or measures you utilise to monitor client behaviour change
- Differences in strategies used between new and returning clients
- Achievements and/or 'missed' opportunities
- Differences noted between 'successful' clients and 'non-successful' clients

What are the challenges when trying to help individual's modify their behaviour?

- Common barriers and constraints clients' face
- Trainers lacking 'behavioural' knowledge
- Differences strategies for male vs female clients
- Differences between age-groups

- Facility issues
- Expectations placed on Trainers to 'make a difference'

How do you keep 'up to date' with the research about exercise behaviour?

- Experience (trial and error)
- Sources of information
- Initial training courses in qualification
- Changes in any 'typical' determinants of behaviour over your time as a trainer
- Use of different strategies between age-groups, gender
- Workshops, conferences, reading

Why do you think the number of Personal Trainers is growing?

- Industry driven
- Public demand
- Glamour
- Economic influences

What developments would you like to see happen with Personal Trainers?

- In fitness industry settings
- In community settings
- Professional standards training, registration